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2 FIRST TREET MANUFACTURING MODARABA

Company Information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS:		  Mr. Imran Azim				    Non-Executive Director/Chairman
				    Syed Shahid Ali				    Chief Executive Officer
				    Syed Sheharyar Ali			   Non-Executive Director
				    Dr. Salman Faridi 			   Independent Director
				    Ms. Sidra Fatima Sheikh			   Female/Independent Director
				    Mr. Munir K. Bana			   Non-Executive Director
				    Dr. Haroon Latif Khan			   Independent Director

AUDIT COMMITTEE:		  Dr. Salman Faridi				   Chairman/Member
				    Mr. Imran Azim 				    Member
				    Mr. Munir K. Bana			   Member
				  
CHIEF ACCOUNTANTS:		  Mr. Moazzam Hussain Hashmi		  Modaraba Management Company
				    Mr. Muhammad  Zubair			   Modaraba 
COMPANY SECRETARY:		  Ms. Zunaira Dar
EXTERNAL AUDITORS:		  M/s Rahman Sarfaraz Rahim Iqbal Rafiq	 Chartered Accountants
EXTERNAL AUDITORS OF	 	 M/s Yousuf Adil		   		  Chartered Accountants
MODARABA MANAGEMENT COMPANY:

LEGAL ADVISORS:		  Asad & Asad Attorney at Law		  Advocates  
CORPORATE ADVISORS:		  Cornelius, Lane & Mufti 			    Advocates
SHARIAH ADVISOR:		  Mufti Muhammad Javed Hassan

BANKERS: Al-Baraka Bank Pakistan Limited Habib Bank Limited
Allied Bank Limited Meezan Bank Limited
Bank Al Habib Limited Askari Bank Limited
BankIslami Pakistan Limited MCB Bank Limited
Faysal Bank Limited National Bank of Pakistan
Habib Metropolitan Bank Limited The Bank of Punjab
MCB Islamic Bank Ltd. Dubai Islamic Bank Pakistan Limited
Bank Alfalah Limited JS Bank Limited
The Soneri Bank Limited United Bank Limited

								      
REGISTERED OFFICE/		  72-B, Industrial Area, Kot Lakhpat, Lahore.			 
PLACE OF BUSINESS:		  Tel: 042-35830881, 35156567 & 35122296
				    Fax:  042-35114127 & 35215825	
				    E-mail: info@treetonline.com
				    Home Page: www.ftmm.com.pk
SHARES REGISTRAR:		  Corplink (Private ) Limited
				    Winges Arcade, 1-K, Commercial Model Town, Lahore
PACKAGING SOLUTIONS		  Kacha Tiba Rohi Nala, 22-KM
CORRUGATION:			   Ferozpur Road, Lahore
SOAP PLANT:			   Ghakkar 80 KM, G.T. Road,
				    Ghakkar Mandi, Gujranwala
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Directors’ Profile

Mr. Imran Azim
Chairman

Mr. Imran Azim brings 
more than a four-decade 
experience with him to 
the board of Treet. His 
experience includes work 
in one of the largest 
financial institutions and 
asset management and 
manufacturing companies. 

He is presently on Board 
of following Companies:

•	 Habib Asset Management 
Limited

•	 Fecto Sugar Mills Limited

•	 Treet Holdings Limited

•	 Treet Corporation Limited

•	 Global Arts Limited

Mr. Syed Shahid Ali
Chief Executive Officer

Holding a Master’s degree 
in economics, a graduate 
diploma in development 
economics from Oxford 
University and a graduate 
diploma in management 
sciences from the 
University of Manchester, 
Syed Shahid Ali became 
Chief Executive Officer 
for the Treet Group in 
1995. Apart from holding 
directorships in various 
companies, he is also 
actively involved in social 
and cultural activities and 
holds senior positions on 
several hospitals.

His portfolio includes:

•	 Packages Limited

•	 IGI Insurance Limited

•	 Treet Power Limited

•	 Treet Corporation Limited

•	 Global Arts Limited

•	 Loads Limited

•	 Multiple Autoparts 
Industries (Pvt.)  Limited

•	 Specialized Autoparts 
Industries (Pvt.) Limited

•	 Treet Holdings Limited

•	 Gulab Devi Chest Hospital

•	 High-Tech Autoparts 
(Pvt.) Limited

Mr. Syed Sheharyar Ali
Non-Executive Director

After returning from Saint 
Louis University, USA in 
2001, Syed Sheharyar 
Ali became one of the 
youngest directors of 
Treet Corporation Limited. 
Currently at the age of 39, 
he manages a diversified 
portfolio consisting 
of manufacturing, 
healthcare, information 
technology, automobiles, 
sports and music.

His portfolio includes:

•	 Treet Power Limited

•	 Treet Corporation Limited

•	 Global Arts Limited

•	 Loads Limited

•	 Multiple Autoparts 
Industries (Pvt.) Limited

•	 Specialized Autoparts 
Industries (Pvt.) Limited

•	 Specialized Motorcycle 
(Pvt.) 	 Limited

•	 Cutting Edge (Pvt.) Limited

•	 Online Hotel Agents (Pvt.) 
Limited

•	 Frag Games (Pvt.) Limited

•	 Punjab Netball Federation

•	 All Pakistan Music 
Conference

•	 Treet Holdings Limited

•	 Gulab Devi Chest Hospital, 
Kasur

•	 Roboart (Pvt.) Limited

•	 Spell Digital Movies (Pvt.) 
Limited

•	 Elite Brands Limited

•	 Hi-Tech Autoparts (Pvt.) 
Limited

Dr. Haroon Latif Khan
Independent Director

Dr. Haroon Latif Khan 
brings a wealth of 
experience in healthcare 
management to First Treet 
Manufacturing Modaraba 
as an Independent 
Director on its Board. He 
has been associated with 
the Lahore Institute of 
Fertility & Endocrinology 
(LIFE) as a Clinical 
Embryologist since 2006, 
eventually becoming the 
Lab Director and Chief 
Executive of the clinic.
He is also a Board Member 
of the Asia Pacific Initiative 
on Reproduction (ASPIRE) 
and a General Secretary of 
the IVF Society of Pakistan 
and the Pakistan Society 
of Andrology & Sexual 
Medicine (PSASM). 
Dr. Khan holds a Fellowship 
in Sexual Medicine 
from Holland and an 
Executive Education 
Degree in Management of 
Healthcare Delivery from 
Harvard Business School, 
Boston, USA. With his 
extensive experience and 
expertise, he plays a vital 
role in contributing to the 
growth and success of the 
company
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Directors’ Profile

Ms. Sidra Fatima Sheikh
(Female /Independent 

Director)
After completing her 
BSC Economics from 
The London School of 
Economics and Political 
Science, CPE/PGDL and 
LPC from BPP Law School, 
London, Sidra Fatima 
Sheikh trained with The 
Oberman Partnership 
Solicitors (now Kerman 
& Co), London and was 
enrolled as a Solicitor 
of the Supreme Court 
of England & Wales in 
2001. She is a partner at 
The Sheikh Partnership 
law firm since 2004 and 
serves on the managing 
committee of Gulab 
Devi Hospital and Al-
Aleem Medical College. 
She has recently been 
enrolled as an advocate 
of the Supreme Court of 
Pakistan.

Mr. Munir K. Bana
Non-Executive Director

•	He is a graduate from 
Dow Medical College 
and trained in UK as a 
Surgeon. He obtained 
FRCS in 1983. He is also 
a fellow of Royal Society 
of Medicine. He has vast 
medical experience of 
more than two decades 
in UK, Middle East and 
Pakistan. Currently, he 
is Medical Director at 
the Liaquat National 
Hospital, Karachi, one 
of the largest hospitals 
in the private healthcare 
sector in Pakistan.

His portfolio includes:

•	 Standing Member of 
Pakistan Standard and 
Quality Authority for 
Healthcare Issues

•	 Member Corporate 
Syndicate for MBA in 
Healthcare Management 
at the Institute of 
Business Management, 
Karachi

•	 Member Advisory 
Board for Formulation 
of National Guidelines 
on the Prophylaxis and 
Management of Venous 
Thromboembolism (VTE)

•	 Treet Holdings Limited

•	 Renacon Pharma Limited

•	 Treet Corporation Limited

Mr. Munir K. Bana qualified 
as a Chartered Accountant 
in 1972 and is a fellow of 
the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Pakistan. 
He has been on the Board 
of Loads Limited and its 
group companies since 1996, 
initially serving as Director 
Finance and later elected as 
Chief Executive of the Group. 
Previously, he served on the 
Boards of multi-national 
companies, Parke-Davis & 
Boots, as Finance Director 
for 18 years. Nominated 
by the Prime Minister as 
Honorary Chairman of 
Karachi Tools, Dies & Moulds 
Centre, a public private-
partnership, he served the 
institution for over 10 years. 
He was elected Chairman 
of Pakistan Association 
of Automotive Parts & 
Accessories Manufacturers 
(“PAAPAM”) in 2012-13. He 
has been Board member 
of Treet Corporation since 
2008.

His portfolio includes:

•	 Multiple Autoparts 
Industries (Pvt.) Limited

•	 Specialized Autoparts 
Industries 	  (Pvt.) 
Limited

•	 Specialized Motorcycles 
(Pvt.) 	 Limited

•	 Loads Limited

•	 Treet Holdings Limited

•	 Treet Corporation Limited

•	 Global Arts Limited

Mr. Dr. Salman Faridi
Independent Director
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Mission, Vision Statements

MISSION STATEMENT

Our MISSION is, to satisfy and meet the needs of our customers, providing our products and services with the 
quality, adjusted to their needs and preferences and to create value for our stakeholders through originality 
and strict adherence to our principles. We being a conscientious producer, and having stood the test of time, 
will continue our emphasis on responding to customer need with value added products and services. It is our 
belief that we can fulfill this mission through a unique combination of industry vision, effective supply chain 
management and innovative technology.

VISION STATEMENT

To be innovative in our field to the benefit of society, we will fairly compete in quality, technology, sales and 
marketing expertise, while ensuring sound financial and sustainable growth of the Treet Group for the sake of 
its stakeholders and reputation.

PRINCIPLE

We will base our human resources systems on our proven principles reflective of our core values and our 
commitment to attract, reward, develop and motivate sophisticated people. They will reflect the global scope 
of our business while demonstrating responsibility and flexibility with respect to cultural diversity, statutory 
and regional business realties.

EMPHASIS

Our emphasis on continuous improvement in all aspects of our business will enable us to reward our certificate 
holders and employees.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

We will continually strive to be environmentally responsible and support the communities where we operate 
and the industries in which we participate.

CORPORATE VALUES

•	 Total Customer Services
•	 Long-Term Business Focus
•	 Technology Oriented
•	 Quality & Reliability
•	 Staff Development & Teamwork
•	 Effective Resources & Cost Management
•	 Corporate Responsibility
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Chairman’s Review Report

I am pleased to place before you the annual report together with audited financial statements of First Treet 
Manufacturing Modaraba for the year ended as on 30th June 2023 and the auditors’ report thereon.

The current members of the Board are fully abreast in the areas of business management, strategy, finance, 
corporate governance, legal and administration. Further, all members of the Board are cognizant of their 
fiduciary duty to the Modaraba and its certificate holders. As Chairman of the Board, I ensure that all directors 
are encouraged to contribute and deliberate on strategic and governance-related topics, and that inputs from 
the independent directors (director representing minority certificate holders) and the directors having relevant 
experience on such topics are consulted and given due consideration before taking any decision. 

The Board has clearly defined the terms of reference of its committees, and the members are appointed after 
considering their requisite skills and experience. Further, the Board and its committees meet regularly during 
the year and exercise their governance roles after due deliberation on each matter placed before them.

During 2022-2023, a thorough review of the Board and its committees was conducted through our internal 
Board Evaluation Process, developed in consonance with accepted global practices for evaluating Board 
performance.

We also constantly reviewed aspects of our financial reporting framework, in order to ensure that the Modaraba 
remained in line with both the latest regulatory requirements and best practices in the industry.

On behalf of the Board, I take this opportunity to thank all First Treet Manufacturing Modaraba employees and 
partners for their hard work throughout the year and our certificate holders and customers for their continued 
support and look forward to a successful 2023-2024.

Mr. Imran Azim
Chairman

September 28, 2023
Lahore



Annual Report 72023

We are pleased to present the Directors’ Report together with the audited Financial Statements for the year 
ended June 30, 2023.

These accounts have been audited by statutory auditors of the Modaraba and are accompanied by their audit 
report.  

The Modaraba has witnessed significant enhancements in its operating and financial profile across various 
key indicators, such as sales, liquidity, cost control, and plant operations. The improved performance during 
the fiscal year 2023 can be attributed to several factors, including increased sales volume, enhanced plant 
efficiency, improved cost management, rationalized pricing, and decreased financial costs. Despite challenging 
economic conditions and the impact of the flood, the Modaraba outperformed the previous year, leading to 
improved outcomes. 

DEMERGER OF BATTERY SEGMENT

In the financial year and following the court order, the demerger of the Battery segment from First Treet 
Manufacturing Modaraba (FTMM) has been successfully completed. All assets, liabilities, and the entire 
associated business, as they existed just before the effective date, have been smoothly separated from FTMM 
and are now under the entity known as Treet Battery Limited (TBL).

The demerger officially took effect on April 1, 2023. The financial statements of FTMM now include a separate 
mention of the loss from discontinued operations related to the Battery segment. These financial statements 
encompass the operations of the Battery segment for the nine months leading up to March 30, 2023.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The Modaraba is primarily engaged in three segments: Battery, Corrugated Boxes, and Soaps. Effective April 
1, 2023, the Battery segment was demerged from the Modaraba as per a court order. The financial results 
of FY 2023, encompass nine months of the Battery segment’s performance and the full year results for the 
Corrugated Boxes and Soaps segments. Overall, FY 2023 demonstrated remarkable growth and financial 
performance for the Modaraba, characterized by significant increases in revenue, gross profit, operating profit, 
leading to improved profitability, and a reduced net loss compared to the previous year.

The Battery segment experienced robust revenue growth, increasing from Rs. 4,881 million to Rs. 6,207 million, 
representing a substantial 27% rise. Similarly, the Corrugated Boxes and Soaps segments also witnessed 
impressive revenue growth, reaching Rs. 3,911 million, a 40% increase from Rs. 2,796 million in the previous 
year.

Remarkably, from continuous operations, the Modaraba achieved a gross profit of Rs. 303.2 million, a significant 
improvement from the Rs. 129.5 million recorded the previous year. This achievement can be attributed to 
enhanced cost management and the Modaraba’s efforts in price rationalization, effectively passing on the 
impact of inflation through regular price revisions throughout the year. Furthermore, the Modaraba’s operating 
profit surged to Rs. 126.87 million, a substantial leap from the Rs. 16.9 million reported in the previous year. 

Directors’ Report
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This outstanding performance resulted from effective cost management practices.

Regarding profitability, the Modaraba achieved a net profit of Rs. 165 million from its continued operations in 
FY 2023, compared to Rs. 152 million in the previous year. Simultaneously, the Modaraba successfully reduced 
its losses from discontinued operations, decreasing them from Rs. 694 million in the previous year to Rs. 292 
million, mainly due to the remarkable performance of the Battery segment.

The main challenge to our margins was the increase in financing costs, primarily driven by the significant rise 
in borrowing rates in the monetary policy throughout the year, which had a substantial impact on our bottom 
line. Consequently, the net loss for the year amounted to Rs. 126 million, compared to a loss of Rs. 542 million 
in the previous year.
										                 (Rupees in millions)
Descriptions 2022-2023 2021-2022 % Change
Sales (net) 3,911 2,796 40%
Gross Profit 303 130 134%
Operating Profit 127 17 649%
Net Profit from Continued operations 165 152 9%
Net Loss from Discontinued operations (292) (694) -58%
Net Loss (126) (542) -77%
Earnings/(Loss) per Certificate (0.15) (0.63) -76%
Transfer to Statutory Reserve Nil Nil
Book Value per Certificate 3.48 5.08 -32%

SEGMENT-WISE ANALYSIS

Rs. in 000 Corrugated Packaging Soap Battery 
2022-2023 2021-2022 2022-2023 2021-2022 2022-2023* 2021-2022

Gross Sales 3,433,866 2,699,311 1,198,563 590,169 7,802,437 6,153,927
Inter-Segment Sales 8,163 2,833     
Less: Sales Tax &
Discounts -518,793 -395,415 210,376 100,409 -1,595,118 -1,272,055

Total Sales 2,923,236 2,306,729 988,187 489,760 6,207,319 4,881,872
Gross Profit/(Loss) 165,913 103,439 137,304 26,109 864,696 155,170
Gross Profit /(Loss) % 6% 5% 14% 5% 14% 3%
Operating Profit/(Loss) 54,178 35,886 72,695 -18,956  255,129 -296,605
Operating Profit/(Loss) % 2% 2% 7% -4% 4% -6%
*FY 2023 numbers are for nine (9) months

BATTERY - DISCONTINUED OPERATION

The battery segment’s net revenue for the first nine months of FY 2022-23 reached Rs. 6,207 million, reflecting 
a substantial 27% increase compared to the previous full financial year. The business experienced a significant 
boost in gross profit, rising from Rs. 155 million in the previous year to Rs. 865 million. This notable improvement 
in gross profit margin can be attributed to effective price rationalization and efficient cost control measures.

Directors’ Report
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Furthermore, it is noteworthy that for the first time since the inception of the business, an operating profit of 
Rs. 255 million was achieved, representing an impressive 216% increase over the previous year. However, the 
steep rise in finance costs, amounting to Rs. 531 million, signifying a 12% increase compared to the previous 
year, resulted in a loss from discontinued operations of Rs. 292 million, as opposed to a loss of Rs. 771 million 
in the prior year.

CORRUGATED PACKAGING
The corrugation segment achieved a net revenue of Rs. 2,923 million for the fiscal year 2022-23, marking a 
significant 27% increase compared to the previous financial year. The business recorded a gross profit of Rs. 
166 million, a notable improvement from the Rs. 103 million achieved last year. This improvement can be 
primarily attributed to enhanced sales management, with a focus on high-margin customers, effective cost 
control measures, and improvements in plant operational efficiency.

To further expand the customer base, efforts are underway to diversify into new markets. Additionally, pricing 
strategies are being adjusted in response to increased costs, including those related to raw materials and 
salaries, although there may be a time lag in the full impact of these adjustments.

SOAPS
In the fiscal year 2022-23, the net revenue amounted to Rs. 988 million, demonstrating a substantial increase 
of 102% compared to the previous financial year. The improved performance in soaps sales can be attributed 
to a more effective marketing strategy and cost absorption methods. There are plans to rationalize prices in 
the upcoming months with the aim of further enhancing margins.

ECONOMIC MELTDOWN
Pakistan’s economy is currently grappling with significant challenges, marked by declining foreign reserves, 
a depreciating currency, and elevated inflation rates. Several factors have contributed to the contraction of 
economic activity, including stringent monetary policies, the adverse impact of floods, restrictions on imports, 
rising borrowing costs, and uncertainty in both policy and political realms. Furthermore, the manufacturing 
sector in Pakistan has been negatively affected by dwindling foreign reserves, limitations on imports, 
disruptions caused by floods, escalating fuel prices, policy uncertainties, and a slowdown in both domestic and 
global demand.

The Government of Pakistan is confronted with a complex policy dilemma as it strives to maintain progress 
toward achieving macroeconomic stability. The economic outlook depends heavily on the timely and 
comprehensive implementation of critical policy reforms, although there are substantial downside risks 
looming on the horizon.

DIVIDEND
Cash dividend is Nil % (2022: Nil) due to loss in Modaraba.

Directors’ Report
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APPROPRIATIONS
Rs. in ‘000

(Loss) for the Year  (126,388) 
Un-appropriated loss brought forward (8,141,947)
Transferred to Statutory Reserves (0.0%) for the year ended June 30, 2023  -
Incremental depreciation charged during the year 29,551 
Transfer of Un-appropriated loss on demerger 8,211,666
Un-appropriated loss carried forward (27,118) 
Final Dividend for the year ended June 30, 2023 @ Rs. Nil  Nil

CORPORATE AND FINANCIAL REPORTING FRAMEWORK:

In compliance with the Code, the Board of Directors of Modaraba states that:
•	 The financial statements, prepared by the management of Modaraba, fairly present its state of affairs, the 

result of its operations, cash flows and changes in equity. 
•	 Proper books of accounts of the Modaraba have been maintained. 
•	 Appropriate accounting policies are consistently applied by your Modaraba in the preparation of financial 

statements and accounting estimates are based on reasonable and prudent judgment. 
•	 International Accounting Standards, as applicable in Pakistan, have been followed in the preparation of 

these financial statements and any departure therefrom, if any, has been adequately disclosed. 
•	 The system of Internal Controls, being implemented in your Modaraba is sound and has been effectively 

persisted throughout the year. 
•	 Keeping in view the financial position of your Modaraba, we do not have any significant doubt upon its 

continuance as a going concern. 
•	 There has not been any material departure from the best practices of corporate governance, as detailed in 

the listing regulations, during the year under review. 

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS: 

During the year, the Board of Directors of Modaraba has met 04 times and the attendance at each of these 
meetings is as follows:

Sr. 
No. Name Designation 27/

Sep/22
27/

Oct/22
14/

Feb/23
26/

Apr/23
2022-
2023

1 Mr. Imran Azim Non-Executive Director/
Chairman P P P P 4/4

2 Syed Shahid Ali Chief Executive Officer P P P P 4/4
3 Syed Sheharyar Ali Non-Executive Director P P P P 4/4
4 Dr. Salman Faridi Independent Director P P P P 4/4
5 Ms. Sidra Fatima Sheikh Independent Director P P P P 4/4
6 Mr. Munir Karim Bana Non-Executive Director P P P P 4/4
7 Dr. Haroon Latif Khan Independent Director P P P P 4/4

Quorum of Meetings 7/7 7/7 7/7 7/7
P Present in the Meeting
A Leave of Absence

Directors’ Report



Annual Report 112023

AUDIT COMMITTEE

During the year, the Audit Committee of the Board have met 04 times and the attendance at each of these 
meetings is as follows

Sr. 
No. Name Designation 28/

Sep/22
27/

Oct/22
24/

Feb/23
26/

Apr/23
2022-
2023

1 Dr. Salman Faridi Chairman/Member P P P P 4/4
2 Mr. Imran Azim Member P P P P 4/4
3 Mr. Munir Karim Bana Member P P P P 4/4

Quorum of Meetings 3/3 3/3 3/3 3/3
P Present in the Meeting
A Leave of Absence

SHARI’AH ADVISOR:

Mufti Muhammad Javed Hassan is the Shari’ah advisor to the Modaraba. Annual Shari’ah Advisor’s Report is 
attached with this report.

PATTERN OF CERTIFICATE-HOLDING:

The pattern of certificate-holding of your Modaraba as on June 30, 2023 is annexed with this report. This 
statement is in accordance with the amendments made through the Code.
 
HR & ADMINISTRATION:

Complete HR Function is outsourced to associated Modaraba Treet HR Management (Private) Limited who 
is labor hire Modaraba specialized in providing workforce to host companies under service agreement and is 
taking all responsibilities of the workforce.  

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT:

The Board would like to take this opportunity to express gratitude and thanks to our valuable customers 
for their patronage and support, the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan, the Pakistan Stock 
Exchange Limited and Modaraba Association of Pakistan for their continuous support and guidance. 

Special thanks to our certificate holders for the trust and confidence reposed in us. 

For and on behalf of the Board

________________________
Syed Shahid Ali                                             	          Dated: September 28, 2023                      
Chief Executive Officer                                             Lahore

Directors’ Report



12 FIRST TREET MANUFACTURING MODARABA



Annual Report 132023



14 FIRST TREET MANUFACTURING MODARABA



Annual Report 152023



16 FIRST TREET MANUFACTURING MODARABA



Annual Report 172023



18 FIRST TREET MANUFACTURING MODARABA

Statement of Ethics and Business Practices 
Guidlines to Business Conduct

EMPLOYEES

•	 No one should ask any employee to break the law, or go against Treet Group policies and values.
•	 We treat all employees equally and fairly.
•	 We do not tolerate any form of harassment.
•	 Information and necessary facilities are provided to perform jobs in a safe manner.
•	 Employees must not use, bring, or transfer illegal drugs or weapons on Treet Group property.
•	 Employees should report suspicious people and activities.

BUSINESS PARTNERS

•	 Avoid conflicts of interest and identify situations where they may occur.
•	 Do not accept or give gifts, favors, or entertainment if it will appear to obligate the person who receives it.
•	 Use and supply only safe, reliable products and services.
•	 Respect our competitors and do not use unfair business practices to hurt our competition.
•	 Do not have formal or informal discussions with our competitors on prices, markets or products, or 

production or inventory levels.
•	 Manufacture and produce products according to contract specifications.
•	 Market our products and services in an honest and fair manner.
•	 Do not compromise our values to make a profit.

BUSINESS RESOURCES

•	 Do not use inside information about the Treet Group for personal profit. Do not give such information to 
others.

•	 Do not use Treet Group resources for personal gain or any non-business purpose.
•	 Protect confidential and proprietary information.
•	 Do not use Treet Group resources to send, receive, access or save electronic information that is sexually    

explicit, promotes hate, violence, gambling, illegal drugs, or the illegal purchase or use of weapons.
•	 Do not make false or misleading entries into the companies’ books or records (within a Treet Group).

COMMUNITIES

•	 Follow all laws, regulations and Treet Group policies that apply to your work.
•	 Do not entice or give money or anything of value to government officials to influence their decisions.
•	 We measure and assess our performance, and are open and clear in our environmental communications.
•	 When Treet Group’s standards are higher than what is required by local law, we meet the higher standards.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

TREET GROUP believes that a responsible attitude toward society and the environment can make a business 
more competitive, more resilient to shocks, and more likely to attract and hold both consumers and the best 
employees.

TREET GROUP feels that social attitude is a significant part of its risk management and reputation strategy. 
In a world where brand value and reputation are increasingly seen as a Treet Group’s most valuable assets, 
responsible social attitude can build the loyalty and trust that ensure a bright sustainable future.

Fundamental to success for Treet Group (and to our vision and corporate values) are based on following 
premises:

CUSTOMERS

Our future existence relies on understanding and satisfying our customers’ present and future needs. Our goal 
is to be recognized by our customers as a high quality, innovative and cost effective supplier, and the most 
desirable to do business with. We recognize that, as a result, the next person in the process is our customer.

OUR PEOPLE

We value our family of employees as essential to the success of our Treet Group. We aim to develop a long 
term trusting relationship with each employee, encouraging their contributions and assisting in their personal 
development and education. In all dealings we will be fair and consistent.

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

We are recognized at large by our end products and services. We will endeavor to produce technologically 
advanced products and services that offer superior quality and value. Continued innovation and improvement 
are critical to our survival and growth.

SUPPLIERS

We view suppliers of goods and services as an extension of our Treet Group, with whom we wish to develop 
long term trusting relationships. We expect our suppliers to embrace our quality improvement philosophy in 
their dealing with us.

CERTIFICATE HOLDERS

We aim to be a Group in whom our certificate holders have trust and pride. We will keep our certificate holders 
properly informed of our Treet Group’s performance and prospects. We recognize the need to provide our 
certificate holders with an excellent return on investment, consistent with long term growth.

PLANNING

All short term decisions will be consistent with long term objectives that balance the needs of our people, 
customers, suppliers and certificate holders. Each year these objectives will be widely communicated within our Treet 
Group.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

QUALITY IMPROVEMENT

We believe in step by step continual improvement of everything that we are engaged in, including our 
administration, marketing, sales, design, service, distribution and manufacturing. We will encourage 
crossfunctional communication and co-operation to aid this.

ENVIRONMENT

Reflecting our commitment to a cleaner world, we aim to develop products and manufacturing processes 
which are as friendly to the environment as practicable.

SOCIETY

We will conduct our business at all times in a fair, ethical, consistent and professional manner. We accept our 
responsibilities to be a responsible community neighbour, and will continue to support community affairs.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT POLICY

It is Treet Group policy to;

•	 Minimize its environmental impact, as much as economically and practically possible
•	 Save raw material, water and energy and avoid wastage (and reprocess the waste to the maximum 

possible    extent)
•	 Ensure that all its present and future activities are conducted safely without endangering the health of its    

employees, its customers and the public
•	 Develop plans and procedures and provide resources to successfully implement the policy and for dealing 

effectively with any emergency
•	 Provide environmental, health and safety training to all employees and other relevant persons to enable 

them to carry out their duties safely without causing harm to themselves, others and to the environment
•	 Ensure that all its activities comply with national environmental, health and safety regulations

DONATIONS , CHARITIES , CONTRIBUTIONS AND OTHER PAYMENTS OF A SIMILAR NATURE ;

Companies within Treet Group are, subject to Board’s approval, encouraged to provide support to local
communities through donations, charities etc. to fulfill its duty towards social cause. But companies in our
Treet Group will not, in any case, contribute any amount;

(a)   to any political party; or
(b)   for any political purpose to any individual or body.

Moreover, companies in Treet Group shall not distribute gifts in any form to its members in its meeting.
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Investment / Funding and Dividend Policies

INVESTMENT POLICY

•	 The Executive Committee of the Directors is responsible for seeking/evaluating and recommending either;
•	 Portfolio Investments (i.e. in Shares/ Securities etc. (Fresh Issues or Market Purchase) or Financial claims); or
•	 Investment in New Projects (either equity based or loan based); or
•	 Joint Ventures; or
•	 Investment in Intangibles (Goodwill/ Trade Marks/ Patents etc.)

Moreover, Executive Committee ensures that Proposed Investments are set out in Treet Group’s vision and 
Strategic domain.

FUNDING POLICY

It is Treet Group’s policy not only to utilize funds efficiently but also to seek funds from the cheapest source(s).

Treet Group advertently evaluates, from time to time, different funding options for;

•	 Working Capital Requirements (including import/export financing)
•	 Medium Term Rollovers/Capital Requirements
•	 Long Term Project Based Requirements

These funding options may include;

•	 Internally Generated Funds*
•	 Bank Borrowings (Short Term as well as Long Term)
•	 Trade & Sundry Credits
•	 Debt Instruments (Commercial Papers/ Bonds/ TFC etc.) issued to Institutions or Public in general
•	 Subordinate- Debts
•	 Leasing (Operating as well as Capital)
•	 Equity Financing etc.
*This includes Intra-Treet Group resource sharing. Corporate strategy (by the parent Company i.e. Treet 
Corporation Limited) will seek to develop synergies by sharing and coordinating staff and other resources 
across business units, investing
financial resources across business units, and using business units to complement other corporate business 
activities.

Moreover, the above funding options may augment other ancillary financial products (i.e. derivatives like 
shares options etc.).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The companies in Treet Group in general meeting may declare dividends; but no dividend shall exceed the 
amount recommended by the directors; and
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Investment / Funding and Dividend Policies

•	 No dividend shall be declared or paid by a Company for any financial year out of the profits of the Company 
made from the sale or disposal of any immovable property or assets of a capital nature comprised in the 
undertaking or any of the undertaking of the Company; and

•	 No dividend shall be paid by a Company otherwise than out of profits of the Company; and
•	 The Board may approve and pay to the Members such interim dividends as appears to be justified by the 

profits of the Company; and
•	 The Board may, before recommending any dividend, set aside out of the profits of the Company, such 

sums as they think proper as a reserve(s), which shall, at the discretion of the Board, be applicable for 
meeting contingencies etc.; and

•	 Company’s dividend decision will be auxiliary to Company’s Financing Policy

Dividend Policy for First Treet Manufacturing Modaraba

Not less than 90% of the net income in respect of the Modaraba’s business [non-trading] activities, determined 
after setting aside the mandatory reserves as per Prudential Regulations for Modaraba, is to be distributed 
at least once in every year to the certificate holders in proportion to the number of certificates held by them. 
Distribution will be in the form of cash dividend. No dividend shall be paid otherwise than out of the profits of 
the Modaraba for the year or any other distributed profits.
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Statement of Compliance with Listed Companies
(Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019
for the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Treet Holdings Limited (the Management Company) managing First Treet Manufacturing Modaraba (the 
Modaraba) has complied with the requirements of the Regulations in the following manner:

Category Name of Directors
i. Independent Director Dr. Salman Faridi

Dr. Haroon Latif Khan
ii. Non-Executive Directors Mr. Imran Azim (Chairman)

Mr. Munir Karim Bana
Mr. Syed Sheharyar Ali

iii. Executive Directors Mr. Syed Shahid Ali (Chief Executive)
iv. Female / Independent Director Ms. Sidra Fatima Sheikh

3. The Directors have confirmed that none of them is serving as a Director on more than seven listed 
companies, including this Modaraba. 

4. The Modaraba has prepared a Code of Conduct and has ensured that appropriate steps have been taken 
to disseminate it throughout the Modaraba along with its supporting policies and procedures.

5. The board has developed a vision / mission statement, overall corporate strategy and significant policies 
of the Modaraba. The Board has ensured that complete record of particulars of the significant policies 
along with their date of approval or updating is maintained by the Modaraba.

6. All the powers of the Board have been duly exercised and decisions on relevant matters have been 
taken by the Board / certificate holders as empowered by the relevant provisions of the Act and these 
Regulations. 

7. The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairman and, in his absence, by a director elected 
by the Board for this purpose. The Board has complied with the requirements of the Companies Act, 
2017 and the Regulations with respect to frequency, recording and circulating minutes of meetings of 
the Board.

8. The Board have a formal policy and transparent procedures for remuneration of directors in accordance 
with the Act and these Regulations.

9. The Board has arranged Directors’ Training Program (DTP) for the following directors during the year.

(i) Ms. Sidra Fatima Sheikh

CCG regulations encourages the director training program of all directors. Being a responsible and 
compliant, Modaraba has already arranged DTP for one director whereas four directors are exempt on 
the basis of their education and prior experience. The remaining one directors are expected to attain 
DTP certification in due course.

1. The total number of directors are seven (7) as per the following:	
a) Male:		  6
b) Female:		 1
2. The composition of the Board is as follows:
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Statement of Compliance with Listed Companies
(Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019
for the Year Ended June 30, 2023
10. The Board has approved appointment of Chief Financial Officer, company secretary and head of internal 

Audit, including their remuneration and term and conditions of employment and complied with relevant 
requirements of the Regulations. No new appointments have been made during the year.

11. Chief Financial Officer and Chief Executive Officer duly endorsed the financial statements before 
approval of the Board.

12. The Board has formed committee comprising of members given below:

Audit Committee
Dr. Salman Faridi		  (Chairman)
Mr. Imran Azim			   (Member)
Mr. Munir Karim Bana		  (Member)

Human Resource Committee
Human Resource committee has not been formed as all the work force is outsourced.

13. The terms of reference of the aforesaid committee have been formed, documented and advised to the 
committee for compliance;

14. The frequency of meetings of the committees were as per following:

a) Audit Committee (4 Quarterly)

15. The Board has outsourced the internal audit function to M/s Ernst & Young Ford Rhodes, Chartered 
Accountants, who are considered suitably qualified and experienced for the purpose and are conversant 
with the policies and procedures of the company;

16. The statutory auditors of the Modaraba have confirmed that they have been given a satisfactory rating 
under the Quality Control Review program of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and 
registered with Audit Oversight Board of Pakistan, that they and all their partners are in compliance with 
International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) guidelines on code of ethics as adopted by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and they and the partners of the firm involved in the audit are not 
a close relative (spouse, parent, dependent and non-dependent children) of the Chief Executive Officer, 
Chief Financial Officer, Head of Internal Audit, Modaraba Secretary or Director of the Modaraba.

17. The statutory auditors or the persons associated with them have not been appointed to provide other 
services except in accordance with the Act, these regulations or any other regulatory requirement and 
the auditors have confirmed that they have observed IFAC guidelines in this regard.

18. We confirm that all other requirements of Regulations 3,6,7,8,27,32,33 and 36 of the Regulations have 
been complied with.

Mr. Imran Azim
Chairman

Dated: September 28, 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Review Report

We have reviewed the enclosed Statement of Compliance with the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate 
Governance) Regulations, 2019 (the Regulations) prepared by the Board of Directors of Treet Holdings Limited 
(the Company) managing the First Treet Manufacturing Modaraba for the year ended 30 June, 2023 in 
accordance with the requirements of Regulation No. 36 of the Regulations.

The responsibility for compliance with the Regulations is that of the Board of Directors of the Company. 
Our responsibility is to review whether the Statement of Compliance reflects the status of the Company’s 
compliance with the provisions of the Regulations and report if it does not and to highlight any non-compliance 
with the requirements of the Regulations. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of the Company’s personnel 
and review of various documents prepared by the Company to comply with the Regulations.

As a part of our audit of the financial statements we are required to obtain an understanding of the accounting 
and internal control systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective audit approach. We are not 
required to consider whether the Board of Directors’ statement on internal control covers all risks and controls 
or to form an opinion on the effectiveness of such internal controls, the Company’s corporate governance 
procedures and risks.

The Regulations require the Company to place before the Audit Committee, and upon recommendation of the 
Audit Committee, place before the Board of Directors for their review and approval, its related party transactions. 
We are only required and have ensured compliance of this requirement to the extent of the approval of the 
related party transactions by the Board of Directors upon recommendation of the Audit Committee.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the Statement of 
Compliance does not appropriately reflect the Company’s compliance, in all material respects, with the 
requirements contained in the Regulations as applicable to the Company for the year ended 30 June 2023.

Rahman Sarfaraz Rahim Iqbal Rafiq
Chartered Accountants

Engagement Partner: Adnan Rasheed

Lahore

UDIN: CR202310701jXMCDcN2p	

To the Certificate Holders of First Treet Manufacturing Modaraba
Review Report on the Statement of Compliance contained in Listed Companies (Code of
Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019
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Shari’ah Advisor’s Report
First Treet Manufacturing Modaraba (June 30, 2023)
I have conducted the Shari’ah review of First Treet Manufacturing Modaraba managed by Treet Holdings Limited 
for the financial year ended June 30, 2023 in accordance with the requirements of the Shari’ah Compliance and 
Shari’ah Audit Mechanism for Modarabas and report that except the observations as reported hereunder, in 
my opinion:

i.	 The Modaraba has introduced a mechanism which has strengthened the Shari’ah compliance, in letter 
and spirit and the systems, procedures and policies adopted by the Modaraba are in line with the Shari’ah 
principles.

ii.	 The agreement(s) entered by the Modaraba are Shari’ah compliant and the financing agreement(s) have 
been executed on the forrmats as approved by the Religious Board of SECP and all the related conditions 
have been met.

iii.	 Modaraba has saving accounts in conventional branches of MCB and HBL which is not in compliance with 
Shariah rules & principles. However, the company has now submitted requests to these banks to close 
these Savings accounts or to change their status from Savings to Current account.

iv.	 Modaraba has obtained car and machinery break down insurance policy from an Insurance Company. 
However, now the car insurance policy has been shifted to takaful policy while the machinery break down 
is still insured by the insurance company.

v.	 A workshop on Zakat calculation of personal zakatable assets and Modaraba company assets was 
organized during the year.

vi.	 Charity/donation of interest amount on saving accounts of the said conventional banks will now be 
calculated from July 1st 2022 to June 30th 2023 and to be paid during the ongoing financial year i.e. FY 
2023-24. 

Observation(s):
It is observed that Modaraba has opened saving accounts in conventional banks and obtained an insurance 
policy from an insurance company. It is urged that savings accounts in conventional banks should be closed 
promptly and accounts should be operated in Islamic banks or their status should be “Current Account” instead 
of “Savings Account”. Similarly, machinery break down insurance policy should also be transferred into Takaful 
policy from any Takaful company.

Conclusion:
Besides the above mentioned improvements, it is opined that to the best of my knowledge and according to 
the explanations given to me, the business transactions undertaken by the Modaraba, and overall business 
operations during the year are in compliance with the rules & principles of Shari’ah.

May Allah make us successful in this world and hereafter and forgive our mistakes.

Mufti Muhammad Javed
Shari’ah Advisor

Dated: September 28, 2023
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Auditors’ Report to The Certificate-Holders

We have audited the annexed balance sheet of First Treet Manufacturing Modaraba (the Modaraba) as at 30 
June 2023 and the related profit and loss account and the statement of other comprehensive income, cash 
flow statement and statement of changes in equity together with the notes forming part thereof (hereinafter 
referred to as the financial statements), for the year then ended and we state that we have obtained all the 
information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes 
of our audit.

These financial statements are the modaraba management company’s (Treet Holdings Limited) responsibility 
who is also responsible to establish and maintain a system of internal control, and prepare and present the 
above said statements in conformity with the approved accounting standards as applicable in Pakistan and 
the requirements of the Modaraba Companies and Modaraba (Floatation and Control) Ordinance, 1980 (XXXI 
of 1980), and the Modaraba Companies and Modaraba Rules, 1981. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on these statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards as applicable in Pakistan. These standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free of any material misstatement. An audit includes examining on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting policies and significant estimates made by the modaraba management company, as well as, 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion and, after due verification, we report that:

(a)	 In our opinion, proper books of accounts have been kept by the modaraba management company in 
respect of the Modaraba as required by the Modaraba Companies and Modaraba (Floatation and Control) 
Ordinance, 1980 (XXXI of 1980), and the Modaraba Companies and Modaraba Rules, 1981;

(b)	 In our opinion:

i.	 the balance sheet and profit and loss account and the statement of other comprehensive income together 
with the notes thereon have been drawn up in conformity with the Modaraba Companies and Modaraba 
(Floatation and Control) Ordinance, 1980 (XXXI of 1980) and the Modaraba Companies and Modaraba Rules, 
1981, and are in agreement with the books of accounts and are further in agreement with accounting 
policies consistently applied;

ii.	 the expenditure incurred during the year was for the purpose of the Modaraba’s business; and
iii.	 the business conducted, investments made and the expenditure incurred during the year were in 

accordance with the objects, terms and conditions of the Modaraba;

(c)	 In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the balance 
sheet, profit and loss account and the statement of other comprehensive income, cash flow statement 
and statement of changes in equity together with the notes forming part thereof conform with approved 
accounting standards as applicable in Pakistan, and, give the information required by the Modaraba 
Companies and Modaraba (Floatation and Control) Ordinance, 1980 (XXXI of 1980), and the Modaraba 
Companies and Modaraba Rules, 1981, in the manner so required and respectively give a true and fair view 
of the state of the Modaraba’s  affairs as at 30 June 2023 and of the loss and other comprehensive loss, its 
cash flows and changes in equity for the year then ended; and

(d)	 In our opinion, no Zakat was deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (XVIII of 1980).

Emphasis of Matter
We draw users’ attention to notes 1.3 to 1.6 to the financial statements, which disclose the demerger of the 
battery segment of the Modaraba and transfer of the said segment to Treet Battery Limited (TBL) as per the 
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Auditors’ Report to The Certificate-Holders

Scheme of arrangement approved by the certificate and shareholders of the Modaraba and TBL respectively 
and sanctioned by the Honourble Lahore High Court, Lahore. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Rahman Sarfaraz Rahim Iqbal Rafiq
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
(Engagement Partner: Rashid Rahman Mir)	

Lahore
September 28, 2023

UDIN: AR2023107018WmGY2IgM	
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BALANCE SHEET
As at 30 June 2023

Note 2023 2022
(Rupees in thousand)

PROPERTIES AND ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 5  693,031  8,368,276 
Right-of-use (ROU) asset 6  -    25,641 
Long term deposits 7  21,724  59,013 

  714,755  8,452,930 
Current assets
Stores and spares 8  88,102  117,501 
Stock in trade 9  414,991  1,164,970 
Trade debtors 10  860,067  765,525 
Advances, deposits, prepayments and other receivables 11  602,475  156,382 
Taxes recoverable/ adjustable 12  960,053  684,804 
Cash and bank balances 13  65,313  237,036 

 2,991,001  3,126,218 

Total properties and assets  3,705,756  11,579,148 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Certificate capital and reserves:

Certificate capital 14  8,835,903  8,835,903 
Deposits for purchase of certificates 15  1  1 

Capital reserves
Statutory reserve 16  511,941  511,941 
Certificate premium 17  -    1,952,870 
Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 18  553,025  1,212,893 
Demerger reserve 19  (6,879,903)  -   

 (5,814,937)  3,677,704 

Revenue reserves
Unappropriated loss  (27,118)  (8,141,947)
Certificate holders’ equity  2,993,849  4,371,661 

Non-current liabilities
Lease liability 20  -    18,962 
Deferred taxation 21  87,584  314,347 

 87,584  333,309 
Current liabilities
Retention money payable  11,363  11,590 
Current portion of lease liability  -    5,604 
Short term borrowings 22  -    5,569,103 
Trade and other payables 23  486,476  1,090,167 
Accrued profit on secured borrowings  -    101,734 
Provision for taxation  126,484  95,980 

 624,323  6,874,178 

Contingencies and commitments 24 - -

Total equity and liabilities  3,705,756  11,579,148 

The annexed notes 1 to 42 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Syed Shahid Ali
Chief Executive Officer

Ms. Sidra Fatima Sheikh
Director

Syed Shahid Ali
Director

LAHORE
28th September 2023

Mohtashim Aftab
Group Chief Financial Officer
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT & THE STATEMENT OF
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2023

Note 2023 2022
(Rupees in thousand)

Revenue - net 25  3,911,423  2,796,489 
Cost of sales 26  (3,608,206)  (2,666,941)
Gross profit  303,217  129,548 

Operating expenses
Administration and general expenses 27  (50,264)  (34,049)
Selling and distribution expenses 28  (102,053)  (37,029)
Other expenses 29  (24,027)  (41,540)

 (176,344)  (112,618)
Operating profit  126,873  16,930 

Finance cost 30  (3,875)  (55,555)
Other income 31  78,567  229,346 
Profit before taxation  201,565 240,721 
Taxation 32  (36,390)  (11,335)
Profit from continuing operations  165,175  229,386 

Loss from discontinued operations - net of tax 34  (291,563)  (771,124)

Loss for the year  (126,388)  (541,738)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss account  -  -

Items that may be reclassified to profit and loss account  -  -

Total comprehensive loss  (126,388)  (541,738)

Loss per Modaraba certificate - basic and diluted 33  (0.15)  (0.63)

The annexed notes 1 to 42 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Syed Shahid Ali
Chief Executive Officer

Ms. Sidra Fatima Sheikh
Director

Syed Shahid Ali
Director

LAHORE
28th September 2023

Mohtashim Aftab
Group Chief Financial Officer
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2023

Capital Reserves Revenue
 Reserve

TotalCertificate 
capital

Deposit for 
purchase of 
Certificates

Certificate 
premium

Statutory 
reserve

Surplus on 
revaluation 
of Property, 

plant & 
equipment  

Demerger 
reserve

 Accumu-
lated loss 

-------------------------------(Rupees in thousand)-------------------------------
Balance as at 30 June 2021  7,000,000  1,835,904  1,952,870  511,941  1,423,472  -    (7,810,787)  4,913,400 

Total comprehensive income for the year
Loss after taxation  -    -    -    -    -    -    (541,738)  (541,738)
Other comprehensive income  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

 -    -    -    -    -    -    (541,738)  (541,738)

Transactions with the entity’s owners
Surplus transferred to accumulated loss 
on account of:	
Incremental depreciation charged during 
the year  -    -    -    -    (65,629)  -    65,629  -   

Disposal of assets held for sale  -    -    -    -    (144,950)  -    144,950  -   
Issuance of certificate capital to Treet 
Corporation Limited from deposit for 
purchase of certificates  1,835,903  (1,835,903)  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Balance as at 30 June 2022  8,835,903  1  1,952,870  511,941  1,212,893  -    (8,141,947)  4,371,661 

Total comprehensive income for the year
Loss after taxation  -    -    -    -    -    (126,388)  (126,388)
Other comprehensive income  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

 -    -    -    -    -    (126,388)  (126,388)

Transactions with the entity’s owners
Surplus transferred to accumulated loss 
on account of:
Incremental depreciation charged during 
the year  -    -    -    -    (29,551)  -    29,551  -   
Transferred to Treet Battery Limited 
pursuant to Scheme of demerger (note 1.4)  -    -    (1,952,870)  -    (630,317)  -    8,211,666  5,628,479 
Demerger reserve  -    -    -    -    -    (6,879,903)  -    (6,879,903)

Balance as at 30 June 2023  8,835,903  1  -    511,941  553,025  (6,879,903)  (27,118)  2,993,849 

The annexed notes 1 to 42 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Syed Shahid Ali
Chief Executive Officer

Ms. Sidra Fatima Sheikh
Director

Syed Shahid Ali
Director

LAHORE
28th September 2023

Mohtashim Aftab
Group Chief Financial Officer
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2023

2023 2022
Note (Rupees in thousand)

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit/ (loss) before taxation  201,565  (518,809)

Adjustments for non-cash and other items:
Depreciation on operating fixed assets  36,540  310,641 
Depreciation on ROU asset  -    6,745 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (31)  (201,776)
Profit on bank and other deposits  (9,349) -
Finance cost  3,875  480,392 
Allowance for expected credit loss  -    24,534 
Reversal of impairment under expected credit loss  (43,891)  -   
Provision for warranty  -    127,696 
Exchange loss  3,397  17,342 
Loss on lease cancellation  -    4,735 

 (9,459)  770,309 
Operating cash flows before working capital changes  192,106  251,500 
Changes in working capital
(Increase)/ decrease in current assets:
Stores and spares  (26,623)  (30,549)
Stock in trade  (750,501)  (28,594)
Short term investment  -    60,000 
Trade debtors  (377,357)  (62,605)
Advances, deposits, prepayments and other receivables  (530,293)  (69,213)
Taxes recoverable/ adjustable  (275,249)  25,038 

 (1,960,023)  (105,923)
Increase/ (decrease) in current liabilities:
Retention money payable  (227)  (1,363)
Trade and other payables  884,918  (318,781)
Cash used in operations  (883,226)  (174,567)
Income tax paid                                                                (96,366)  (74,133)
Financial cost paid  (4,158)  (794,216)
Net cash used in operating activities  (983,750)  (1,042,916)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investments made in property, plant and equipment  (141,145)  (78,315)
Profit received on bank deposits  9,349  -   
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  31  540,051 
Long term deposits  761  (14,058)
Net cash (used in)/ generated from investing activities  (131,004)  447,678 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Short term borrowings  947,118  (1,143,521)
Lease liability  (4,087)  (7,114)
Borrowings from related party - parent company - net  -    1,827,101 
Net cash generated from financing activities  943,031  676,466 

Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equivalents  (171,723)  81,228 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  237,036  72,573 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year                     13  65,313  153,801 

The reconciliation in cash and cash equivalents is as follows:

Cash and bank balances 13  65,313  237,036 
Temporary book overdraft - unsecured 23  -    (83,235)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  65,313  153,801 

The annexed notes 1 to 42 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Syed Shahid Ali
Chief Executive Officer

Ms. Sidra Fatima Sheikh
Director

Syed Shahid Ali
Director

LAHORE
28th September 2023

Mohtashim Aftab
Group Chief Financial Officer
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1 LEGAL STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

1.1 First Treet Manufacturing Modaraba

First Treet Manufacturing Modaraba (the Modaraba) is a multipurpose, perpetual and multi dimensional 
Modaraba formed on 27 July 2005 under the Modaraba Companies and Modaraba (Floatation and Control) 
Ordinance, 1980 and rules framed thereunder and is managed by Treet Holdings Limited (a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Treet Corporation Limited, the parent Company of the Modaraba), incorporated in Pakistan 
under the repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984 (now the Companies Act, 2017) and registered with the 
Registrar of Modaraba Companies. The registered office of the Modaraba and its management company is 
situated at 72 - B, Kot Lakhpat, Industrial Area, Lahore. The Modaraba is listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange 
Limited. During the year, the Modaraba, which was previously engaged in the manufacturing and sale of 
corrugated boxes, soaps and batteries, demerged and transferred its battery segment undertaking and 
business to Treet Battery Limited. For details, refer notes 1.3, 1.4, 1.5 and 1.6. 

1.2 Treet Battery Limited

Treet Battery Limited (TBL) was incorporated on February 22, 2019 as a public company limited by shares 
under the provisions of the Companies Act, 2017. The principal activities of TBL is to carry out business 
as manufacturers, assemblers, processors, producers, suppliers, sellers, importers, exporters, makers, 
fabricators and dealers in all batteries including but not limited to lead acid batteries, deep cycle batteries, 
lithium batteries, nickel cadmium batteries, nickel metal hydride batteries, absorbed glass mat (AGM) 
batteries, gel batteries used in or required for industrial, transport, commercial and domestic and any 
other purpose. TBL is a wholly owned subsidiary of Messrs Treet Holdings Limited which is a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Messrs Treet Corporation Limited - the ultimate parent company, a listed company. The 
registered office of TBL and its holding entities is situated at  72-B, Industrial Area, Kot Lakhpat, Lahore, 
whereas the manufacturing plant is situated at Plot Number 1, Phase 2, M-3 Industrial City (FIEDMC), 
Sahianwala Interchange, Faisalabad

1.3 Demerger of battery segment 

The Modaraba and Treet Battery Limited (TBL) filed a joint petition before the Honourable Lahore High 
Court, Lahore (the Court) seeking approval of the Court for a Scheme of Arrangement (the Scheme) for 
demerger, bifurcation and reconstruction of the battery undertaking and business of the Modaraba (the 
Business) under sections 279 to 282 of the Companies Act, 2017. The Scheme was also approved by the 
certificate holders and shareholders of the Modaraba and TBL in their separate Extra Ordinary General 
Meetings of the members held on March 02, 2022 and other related formalities have also been completed. 
On January 10, 2023, the Court sanctioned the Scheme. The Court, in its order, specified April 01, 2019 as 
the Effective Date of demerger.

1.4 Vesting and transfer of the Business to TBL

As per the Scheme, from and on the effective date the Business was duly transferred and vested in TBL in 
the following manner:

(i) the battery undertaking and business subsisting immediately preceding the sanction date was, without 
any further act or deed, matter or thing, process or procedure, be separated from the Modaraba and 
transferred to and vested in TBL on the sanction date. The transfer and vesting of the battery undertaking 
was free from all mortgages or charges or other encumbrance.
(ii) the separation from the Modaraba and transfer to and vesting in TBL of the Business was treated as 
having taken effect from the effective date i.e. April 01, 2019, and as from that time and until the sanction 
date i.e. April 01, 2023, the Business was deemed to have been owned and held for and on account and 
for the benefit of TBL and all profits, dividends, bonus shares, right shares and entitlements accruing or 
arising to the Modaraba from or on account of the Business were treated as profits, dividends, bonus 
share, right shares and entitlements accruing or arising to TBL.
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(iii) As consideration for transfer and vesting of the Business into TBL, TBL was to allot ordinary shares to 
the certificate holders of the Modaraba as explained in note 1.5.

1.5 Main features of the Scheme are summarized below:
(i) 883.2773 million shares of TBL having face value of Rs. 8,832.773 million were to be issued to the 
certificate holders of the Modaraba. Consequently certificate capital of the Modaraba, attributable to 
the Business was to be reduced by 687.99 million certificates having face value of Rs. 6,879.903 million 
and remaining 195.287 million shares of TBL having face value of Rs. 1,952.870 million were to be issued 
against certificate premium of Rs. 1,952.870 million of the Modaraba.

(ii) The balance of surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment were to be segregated between 
the Business and subsisting businesses of the Modaraba on the basis of the valuation determined by an 
independent valuer on June 30, 2021.

(iii) The properties, assets, rights, liabilities and obligations comprised in the Business including, without 
limitation, the capital reserves, revenue reserves, revaluation surplus and accumulated losses of the 
Modaraba relating to the Business as at the day preceding the effective date and immediately preceding 
the sanction date were to be accounted for in the books of TBL.

(iv) All suits, appeals, arbitration governmental investigations and other legal proceedings instituted by or 
against the Modaraba in respect of the Business, and pending before any court, tribunal, regulatory body, 
or any other  authority were to be treated as suit, appeals and legal proceedings by or against TBL and may 
be continued, prosecuted  and enforced by or against TBL accordingly. 

(Rs in 000's)

1.6 TRANSFER OF BATTERY SEGMENT BALANCES

The Modaraba transferred the following assets and liabilities pertaining to the battery 
segment to TBL on sanction date as detailed below:

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment  7,572,111 
Right-of-use asset (ROU)  19,872 
Long term deposits  36,528 

 7,628,511 
Current assets
Stores and spares  56,022 
Stock in trade  1,500,480 
Trade debtors  282,815 
Advances, deposits, prepayments and other receivables  84,200 

 1,923,517 
Total assets  9,552,028 

Non-current liabilities
Lease liability  13,833 
Deferred taxation  154,102 

 167,935 
 

Current liabilities
Current portion of lease liability  6,646 
Short term borrowings  6,516,221 
Trade and other payables  1,512,226 
Accrued markup on secured borrowings  97,576 

 8,132,669 

Net assets transferred  1,251,424 
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the approved accounting standards 
as applicable in Pakistan. Approved accounting standards comprise of such International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as are notified under 
the Companies Act, 2017, Islamic Financial Accounting Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Pakistan, provisions of and directives issued under Modaraba Companies and Modaraba 
(Floatation and Control) Ordinance, 1980, Modaraba Companies and Modaraba Rules, 1981 and directives 
issued by Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP). In case requirements of IFRS differ, the 
provisions of or directives issued under the Modaraba Companies and Modaraba (Floatation and Control) 
Ordinance, 1980 and Modaraba Companies and Modaraba Rules, 1981 and directives issued by SECP shall 
prevail.

2.2 Basis of measurement

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for land, 
buildings and plant and machinery which are carried at revalued amount, recognition of staff retirement 
benefits, which is based on actuarial values and financial instruments which are stated at fair values and 
stock in trade which is carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

2.3 Presentation

The financial statements have been presented in Pak Rupees, which is also the Modaraba’s presentation 
and functional currency. Figures have been rounded off to the nearest Rupee in thousands. According to 
the requirements of IFRS 5, corresponding figures of the statement of financial position along with relevant 
notes represent three segments, corrugated boxes, soaps and batteries whereas the corresponding 
figures of the profit and loss account along with relevant notes represent two segments, corrugated boxes 
and soaps for better presentation, unless specifically stated otherwise. The corresponding figures are 
regrouped/ rearranged for the purpose of comparison. Appropriate disclosure is given in relevant note in 
case of material rearrangement.

2.4 Significant accounting estimates, judgements and assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the approved accounting standards requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies 
and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgments about the 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which estimates are revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.
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The areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the Modaraba’s financial statements or 
where judgment was exercised in application of accounting policies are as follows:

2.4.1 Useful life and residual values of property, plant and equipment

The Modaraba reviews the useful life and residual value of property, plant and equipment on regular basis 
to determine that expectations are not significantly changed from the previous estimates.  Further, where 
applicable, an estimate of the recoverable amount of assets is made for possible impairment on an annual 
basis. In making these estimates, the Modaraba uses the technical resources available with it. Any change 
in the estimates in the future might affect the carrying amount of respective item of property, plant and 
equipment, with corresponding effects on the depreciation/ amortization charge and impairment, if any.

2.4.2 Useful life of right-of-use asset and lease liabilities

The Modaraba determines the lease term as the non cancellable term of the lease, together with any 
periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods 
covered  by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. The Modaraba 
has a lease contract that include extension and termination options. The Modaraba applies judgement in 
evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate 
the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either 
the renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the Modaraba reassesses the lease term if 
there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to 
exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate (e.g. construction of significant leasehold 
improvements or significant customization to the leased asset).

2.4.3 Revaluation of property, plant and equipment

Revaluation of certain classes of property, plant and equipment is carried out by an independent professional 
valuer. Revalued amounts of non depreciable items are determined by reference to local market values 
and that of depreciable items are determined by reference to current depreciated replacement values.

The frequency of revaluations depends upon the changes in fair values of the items of property, plant 
and equipment being revalued. When the fair value of a revalued asset differs materially from its carrying 
amount, a further revaluation is required. Such frequent revaluations are unnecessary for items of 
property, plant and equipment with only insignificant changes in fair value. Instead, it may be necessary to 
revalue the item only every three to five years.

2.4.4 Recoverable amount of non financial assets and impairment

The management of the Modaraba reviews carrying amounts of its non-financial assets and cash 
generating units for possible impairment and makes formal estimates of recoverable amount if there is 
any such indication.

2.4.5 Stock in trade and stores and spare parts

The Modaraba reviews the net realizable value of items of stores, spare parts and loose tools and stock in 
trade to assess any possible impairment on annual basis. Net realizable value is estimated with reference 
to the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated cost necessary to make 
the sale. Any change in the estimates in the future might affect the carrying amount of respective item 
of store, spare parts and loose tools and stock in trade, with corresponding effects on the provision for 
impairment, if any.
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The amount of the expected return on plan assets is calculated using the expected rate of return for the 
year and the market related value at the beginning of the year. Gratuity cost primarily represents the 
increase in actuarial present value of the obligation for benefits earned on employee service during the 
year and the interest on the obligation in respect of employee service in previous years, net of the expected 
return on plan assets. Calculations are sensitive to changes in the underlying assumptions.

2.4.8 Contingencies

The Modaraba has disclosed significant contingent liabilities for the pending litigations and claims against 
it based on its judgment and the advice of the legal advisors for the estimated financial outcome. The 
actual outcome of these litigations and claims can have an effect on the carrying amounts of the liabilities 
recognized at the balance sheet date. However, based on the best judgment of the Modaraba and its legal 
advisors, the likely outcome of these litigations and claims is remote and there is no need to recognize any 
liability at the balance sheet date.

2.4.9 Provision for income taxes

Instances where the Modaraba’s view differs with the view taken by the income tax department at the 
assessment stage and where the Modaraba considers that its view on items of a material nature is in 
accordance with the law, the amounts are shown as contingent liabilities.

3 INITIAL APPLICATION OF A STANDARD, AMENDMENT OR AN INTERPRETATION TO AN EXISTING STANDARD 
AND FORTHCOMING REQUIREMENTS

a) Standards and interpretations that became effective but are not relevant to the Modaraba:

The following standards (revised or amended) and interpretations became effective for the current 
financial year but are either not relevant or do not have any material effect on the financial statements of 
the Modaraba other than increased disclosures in certain cases:

2.4.6 Allowance for expected credit losses

The allowance for expected credit losses assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. It 
is based on the lifetime expected credit loss, grouped based on days overdue, and makes assumptions 
to allocate an overall expected credit loss rate for each group. These assumptions include recent sales 
experience, historical collection rates and forward looking information for macro economic factors i.e. 
interest rates, inflation rates, unemployment rates, GDP rates etc.

2.4.7 Employees' retirement benefits

The calculation of the benefit requires assumptions to be made of future outcomes, the principal ones 
being in respect of increase in remuneration and the discount rate used to convert future cash flows to 
current values. The assumptions used for the plan are determined by independent actuary on annual 
basis.

•	 IFRS 3 - Business Combinations - (Amendments updating a reference to the Conceptual Framework).
•	 IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments - (Amendments to 10 percent test for derecognition of financial 

liabilities in fee).
•	 IAS 16- Property, Plant and Equipment - (Amendments regarding proceeds before intended use).
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•	 IAS 16- Property, Plant and Equipment - (Amendments prohibiting a company from deducting from 
the cost of property, plant and equipment amounts received from selling items produced while the 
Company.

•	 IAS 37- Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets - (Amendments regarding the costs 
to include when assessing whether a contract is onerous).

b) Forthcoming requirements not effective in current year and not considered relevant:

The following standards (revised or amended) and interpretations became effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after the mentioned dates but are either not relevant or do not have any material effect 
on the financial statements of the Modaraba other than increased disclosures in certain cases:

•	 IAS 1- Presentation of Financial Statements - (Amendments regarding the disclosure of accounting 
policies)- (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023).

•	 IAS 1- Presentation of Financial Statements - (Amendments regarding the classification of debt with 
covenants)-(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024).

•	 IAS 1 - Presentation of financial statements - Amendments regarding the classification of liabilities - 
(applicable on annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024).

•	 IAS 8- Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors - (Amendments regarding 
the definition of accounting estimates)- (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2023).

•	 IAS 12- Income Taxes - (Amendments regarding deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising 
from single transaction)-(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023).

•	 IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments - Amendments regarding supplier finance arrangements - (applicable 
on annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024).

•	 IFRS 16 - Leases - Amendments to clarify how a seller-lessee subsequently measures sale and 
leaseback transactions - (applicable on Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024).

•	 IAS 7 - Statement of cash flows - Amendments regarding supplier finance arrangements - (applicable 
on annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024).

•	 IAS 41 - Agriculture - (Amendment regarding taxation in fair value measurement) - (effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023).

•	 IFRS 10/ IAS 28 - Consolidated Financial Statements and Investment in Associates - (Amendment 
regarding the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture) - 
(Application date not yet finalized).

Other than the aforesaid standards, interpretations and amendments, the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) has also issued the following standards which have not been adopted locally by 
the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan:
•	 IFRS 1 – First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
•	 IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted in preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These 
policies has been consistently applied to all periods presented in these financial statements.

4.1 Taxation

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in profit and loss account 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in 
equity.
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Current

The charge for current taxation is based on taxable income at current rates of taxation after taking into 
account tax credits, rebates and exemptions available, if any, or minimum tax u/s 113 of the Income Tax 
Ordinance 2001  or Alternative Corporate Tax at the rate of 17% of accounting profit adjustable as per 
income tax laws, whichever is higher. The charge for current tax includes adjustments to charge for prior 
years, if any. For income covered under final tax regime, provision for taxation is made as per the tax rules 
applicable to that regime in accordance with the provisions of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001.

Deferred

Deferred tax is accounted for by using the balance sheet liability method in respect of all temporary timing 
differences arising from difference between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and corresponding tax basis used in the computation of taxable profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward unused tax assets and unused tax 
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred income tax assets to be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 
when the liability is settled based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date. In this regard, the effects on deferred taxation of the proportion of income that is 
subject to final tax regime is also considered in accordance with the treatment prescribed by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (ICAP).

Deferred tax is charged or credited in the profit and loss account, except where deferred tax arises on the 
items directly credited or charged to equity in which case it is included in equity. Changes in deferred tax 
assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax income or expense in profit or loss, except where 
these relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case 
the related deferred tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively.

4.2 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses, if any except for freehold land, buildings, leasehold improvements and plant and machinery. 
Freehold land is stated at revalued amount carried out by independent valuers by reference to its current 
market price less impairment loss, if any (refer to note - 5.1.5). Buildings, leasehold improvements and 
plant and machinery are stated at revalued amounts carried out by independent valuers by reference to 
its current market price less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any (refer to note - 5.1.5). 
Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount 
of the buildings, and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the plant and machinery. Cost 
in relation to property, plant and equipment comprises acquisition and other directly attributable costs. 
The cost of self constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labor and any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their use as intended by the management.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2023



Annual Report 412023

Depreciation is provided on straight line method at rates specified in note 5.1 to the financial statements 
so as to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful life. Depreciation 
on additions to property, plant and equipment is charged from the day on which an asset is available for 
use till the day the asset is retired from active use or the asset is disposed off. 

Residual value and the useful life of assets are reviewed at each financial year end, and adjusted if 
expectations differ significantly from previous estimates and impact on depreciation is significant.

Residual values are determined by the management as the amount it expects it would receive currently 
for an item of property, plant and equipment if it was already of the age and in the condition expected at 
the end of its useful life based on the prevailing market prices of similar assets already at the end of their 
useful lives.

Useful lives are determined by the management based on the expected usage of assets, physical wear and 
tear, technical and commercial obsolescence, legal and similar limits on the use of the assets and other 
similar factors.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Modaraba and cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are 
charged to profit and loss account as and when incurred.

Gain and loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the 
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and is recognized as 
income or expense in the profit and loss account. 

Capital work in progress

Capital work in progress represents expenditure on property, plant and equipment in the course of 
construction and installation. Transfers are made to relevant category of property, plant and equipment 
as and when assets are available for use. Capital work in progress is stated at cost, less any identified 
impairment loss.

Impairment tests for property, plant and equipment are performed annually or whenever there is an 
indication of impairment.

4.3 Right-of-use asset (ROU)

The Modaraba recognizes a ROU asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The ROU 
asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any 
lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an 
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the 
site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The ROU asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight line method from the commencement date 
to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the ROU asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated 
useful lives of ROU assets are determined on the same basis as those of property, plant and equipment. 
In addition, the ROU asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain 
remeasurements of the lease liability.
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4.4 Non-current assets held for sale	

Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale if it is highly probable that their carrying amount 
will be recovered principally through sale rather than through continuing use. Such non-current assets or 
disposal groups are valued at lower of cost and fair value less cost to sell.

Once classified as held for sale, intangible assets and property plant and equipment are no longer amortized 
or depreciated, and any equity accounted investee is no longer equity accounted.

The gain or loss on disposal  of non-current assets held for sale represented by the difference between 
the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognized as income or expense in the profit 
and loss account. 

4.5 Stores and spares

These are valued at  the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventory is based on moving 
average cost. Items in transit are stated at cost plus directly attributable expenses incidental thereto 
accumulated up to the date of balance sheet. The Modaraba reviews the carrying amount of stores and 
spares on a regular basis and provision is made for obsolescence if there is any change in usage pattern 
and physical form of related stores, spares and loose tools. 

Net realizable value specifies the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated cost of completion and cost necessarily to be incurred to make the sale.

4.6 Stock in trade

Stock of raw materials and packing materials are valued at lower of moving average cost and net realizable 
value except for stock in transit which is valued at invoice price and related expenses. Cost in relation 
to work in process and finished goods includes prime cost and appropriate proportion of production 
overheads. Net realizable value signifies the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less 
estimated cost of completion and the cost necessary to be incurred to make the sales.

4.7 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. Trade receivables generally do 
not include amounts over due by 365 days.

The Modaraba has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a 
lifetime expected loss allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been 
grouped based on days overdue.

Other receivables are recognized at amortized cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses.

4.8 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at cost. For the purpose of cash flow statement, 
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, current and deposit account balances with banks net of 
overdrawn book balances, if any.
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4.9 Equity, reserves and profit distribution

Certificate capital represents the face value of certificates that have been issued. Any transaction costs 
associated with the issuing of certificates are deducted from share certificate capital, net of any related 
income tax benefits, if any.

Retained earnings/ accumulated loss include all current and prior period retained profits/ losses.

Profit distribution to the certificate holders is recognized in the period in which it is approved.

4.10 Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment

The surplus arising on revaluation of property, plant and equipment, computed by eliminating the 
accumulated depreciation as at the date of revaluation, is credited to the “Surplus on revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment”’ presented and recognized in the statement of comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the statement of changes in equity as a capital reserve. Following amounts are transferred 
from “Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment” to retained earnings/ (accumulated loss) 
through statement of changes in equity to record realization of surplus:

•	 an amount equal to incremental depreciation - net of tax on revaluation surplus on property, plant 
and equipment for the year, if any; or

•	 an amount equal to carrying amount of revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment, if any, 
on its disposal.

4.11 Borrowings and borrowing costs

These are initially recognized at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs, if any. Difference 
between the fair value and proceeds of borrowings is recognized as income or expense in the profit and 
loss account. Subsequently these are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowing costs are interest or other costs incurred by the Modaraba in connection with the borrowing 
of funds. Borrowing cost that is directly attributable to qualifying assets is capitalized as part of cost of 
that assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other 
borrowing costs are charged to profit and loss account whenever incurred.

4.12 Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be 
readily determined, the Modaraba’s incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise of the following:

- fixed payments, including in substance fixed payments;
- variable lease payments that depend on an index, or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as 
at commencement date;
- amount expected to be payable under a residual guarantee; and
- the exercise under purchase option that the Modaraba is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments 
in an optional renewal period if the Modaraba is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and 
penalties for early termination of lease unless the Modaraba is reasonably certain not to terminate early.
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The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured 
when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a 
change Modaraba’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if 
the Modaraba changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase or termination option. When 
the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount 
of the right-of-use-asset, or is recorded in the profit and loss account if the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

Payments associated with short term leases and all leases of low value assets are recognized on a straight 
line basis as an expense in profit and loss account. Short term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 
months or less without a purchase option.

4.13 Trade and other payables

Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the 
normal operating cycle of business, if longer), if not, they are classified as non-current liabilities.

Liabilities for trade and other amounts payable are carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration 
to be paid in future for goods and services received whether or not billed to the Modaraba.

4.14 Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Modaraba has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate of the amount can be made. However, provisions are reviewed at each reporting period 
to reflect the best current estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the provisions are reversed.

4.15 Contingencies 

These are not accounted for in the financial statements unless these are actual liabilities and are only 
disclosed when:

a) there is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by 
the occurrence or non occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the Modaraba; or

b) there is present obligation that arises from past events but it is not probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation 
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

The assessment of contingencies inherently involves the exercise of significant judgment as the outcome 
of the future events cannot be predicted with certainty. The Modaraba, based on the availability of the 
latest information, estimates the value of contingent assets and liabilities which may differ on the 
occurrence/ non occurrence of the uncertain future events.

4.16 Financial instruments

Recognition and measurement
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized, when the Modaraba becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument and derecognized when the Modaraba loses control of the contractual rights 
to receive cash flows from the assets that comprise the financial asset or the rights have been transferred 
and the Modaraba has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership or the enterprise 
loses control of the contractual rights that comprise financial assets or a portion of financial assets. In 
case of financial liabilities when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.
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Financial assets are long term investments, short term investments, trade and other receivables, 
advances adjustable in cash and cash and bank balances. The Modaraba derecognizes a financial asset or 
a portion of financial asset when, and only when, the right to receive the cash flows from the assets have 
been expired or have been transferred; and the Modaraba has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership or the enterprise loses control of the contractual rights that comprise the financial 
assets or a portion of financial assets.

The Modaraba has classified its financial assets based on the requirements as set out in IFRS-9 ‘Financial 
Instruments’. IFRS 9 sets out the requirements for recognizing and measuring financial assets, financial 
liabilities and some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items and contains three principal classifications 
categories of financial assets: measured at amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive 
income and fair value through profit or loss. The classification of financial assets are generally based on 
the business model in which the financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics.

4.16.1 Financial assets

(a) Financial Asset at Amortized Cost
A financial asset shall be measured at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met:

i) The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in 
order to collect contractual cash flows and;

ii) The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on principal amount outstanding.

(b) Financial Asset at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
A financial asset shall be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if both of 
the following conditions are met:

i) The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and; 

ii) The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on principal amount outstanding.

(c) Financial Asset at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
A financial asset shall be measured at fair value through profit and loss unless it is measured at 
amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Recognition and measurement
Financial assets at initial recognition are measured at its fair value of the consideration given. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets shall be classified at amortized cost using 
effective interest method, fair value through other comprehensive income with changes in 
fair value recognized in other comprehensive income and fair value through profit or loss with 
changes in fair value recognized in the profit and loss account.

The Modaraba follows trade date accounting for purchase and sale of investment.
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4.16.2 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognized according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered 
into. At the time of initial recognition, all financial liabilities shall be measured at fair value plus or minus 
transaction cost that are directly attributable to the issue of a financial liability. Financial liabilities shall 
subsequently be measured at amortized cost. Significant financial liabilities are short term borrowings, 
due to related party, retention money payable, trade and other payables.

Any gain or loss on subsequent remeasurement to fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities is 
taken to profit and loss account in the year in which it arises.

Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

A financial asset and liability is offset against each other and the net amount is reported  in  the balance 
sheet if the Modaraba has legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amount and intends either to 
settle on net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

4.16.3 Derecognition

Financial assets

The Modaraba derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in 
which substantially  all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in 
which the Modaraba neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 
and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

'The Modaraba might enter into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognized in its statement of 
financial position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred 
assets. In these cases, the transferred assets are not derecognized.

Financial liabilities

The Modaraba derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, 
or expire. The Modaraba also derecognizes a financial liability when  its terms are modified and the cash 
flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the 
modified terms is recognized at fair value. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between 
the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid (including any non-cash  assets transferred 
or liabilities assumed)  is recognized  in the profit and loss account.

4.16.4 Impairment

Financial assets

A financial asset is impaired if the credit risk on that financial asset has increased significantly since the 
initial recognition. Loss allowance for ECL on a financial asset is recognized to account for impairment. 

If a financial asset has low credit risk at the date of initial application of IFRS 9, then the Modaraba has 
assumed that the credit risk on the asset had not increased significantly since its initial recognition.
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The Modaraba recognizes lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since 
initial recognition, the Modaraba measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount 
equal to 12 month ECL. Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible 
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12 month ECL represents the 
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are 
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. 

Non-financial assets

The Modaraba assesses at each statement of financial position date, whether there is any indication that 
assets may be impaired. If such an indication exists, the carrying amount of such assets is reviewed to 
assess whether they are recorded in excess of their recoverable amount. Where carrying values exceed 
their respective recoverable amounts, assets are written down to their recoverable amount and resulting 
impairment loss is recognized in the profit and loss account. The recoverable amount is higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

Where an impairment loss is recognized, the depreciation charge is adjusted in the future periods to 
allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount over its estimated useful life. Where an impairment loss 
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised recoverable amount 
but limited to the extent of carrying amount of the asset had there been no impairment loss. A reversal of 
the impairment loss is recognized in the profit and loss account. 

4.17 Employees retirement benefits - related party
Defined contribution scheme

A recognized contributory provident fund scheme namely “Treet Corporation Limited - Group Employees 
Provident Fund” is in operation covering all permanent employees. Equal contributions are made monthly 
both by the Group and employees in accordance with the rules of the scheme at 10% of the basic pay. 

Another recognized contributory fund scheme is “Treet Corporation Limited - Group Employee Service 
Fund” which covers all permanent management employees. In accordance with the rules of the scheme, 
equal monthly contributions are made both by the Group and employees at 10% of the basic pay from the 
date the employee gets permanent status.  Additional contributions may be made by the Modaraba for 
those employees who have at the most 15 years of service remaining before reaching retirement age, 
however, employee can start their additional contribution above the threshold limit of 10% of basic pay at 
any time.

A recognized contributory fund scheme namely “Treet Corporation Limited - Group Employees Benevolent 
Fund” in operation for the benefit of employees if the employee opts for the scheme.  The contributions to 
the fund are made @ 10% of employees basic salary on monthly basis by both employee and the Group. 
Periodic bonuses by the Modaraba to all the employees in any year, not exceeding one month’s basic salary 
of an employee, is credited to his personal account in the Fund at the sole discretion of the Modaraba. 
The BOD of the parent company of the Modaraba has freezed this fund w.e.f. 04 February 2020 and no 
contribution is being credited to the fund since that date.

An unrecognized contributory fund scheme namely, “Treet Corporation Limited - Group Employees Housing 
Fund Scheme” is in operation covering permanent management employees with minimum five years of 
service with the Modaraba. Equal contributions are made monthly both by the Group and employees in 
accordance with the rules of the Scheme at 20% of the basic pay. The BOD of the parent company of the 
Modaraba has freezed this fund w.e.f. 04 February 2020 and no contribution is being credited to the fund 
since that date.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2023



48 FIRST TREET MANUFACTURING MODARABA

Defined benefit scheme

An approved funded gratuity scheme and a funded superannuation schemes are  in operation for all 
employees with qualifying service periods of six months and ten years respectively. These are operated 
through “Treet Corporation Limited - Group Employees Gratuity Fund” and “Treet Corporation Limited - 
Group Employee Superannuation Fund” respectively. The Modaraba’s net obligation in respect of defined 
benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefits that 
employees have earned in current and prior periods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair value 
of any plan assets.

The calculation of defined benefit obligation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected 
unit credit method. When calculation results in a potential assets for the Modaraba, the recognized asset 
is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the 
plan or reduction in future contributions to the plan.

Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability, which comprise of actuarial gains and losses, the return on 
plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest) are recognized 
immediately in other comprehensive income. The Modaraba determines net interest expense/ (income) 
on the defined benefit obligation for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined 
benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to then net defined benefit, taking into account 
any change in the net defined benefit obligation during the period as a result of contributions and benefit 
payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognized in 
profit and loss account.

4.18 Related party transactions

All transactions with related parties are executed at arm’s length prices, determined in accordance with 
the pricing method as approved by the BOD, except in rarely extreme circumstances, where subject to the 
approval of the BOD, it is in the interest of the Modaraba to do so. Parties are said to be related if they are 
able to influence the operating and financial decisions of the Modaraba.

4.19 Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Pak Rupees which is the Modaraba’s functional and 
presentation currency using the exchange rates approximating those prevailing at the date of the 
transaction. All monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into Pak Rupees using 
the exchange rate at the balance sheet date. 

Exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translations 
at the year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognized in profit and loss account. All non monetary assets and liabilities are translated in Pak Rupees 
using the exchange rates prevailing on the date of transaction or at the date when the fair value was 
determined. 

4.20 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources 
and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the BOD of the Modaraba 
that makes strategic decisions. Segments reported are corrugated boxes and soaps which also reflects the 
management structure of the Modaraba. 
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4.21 Revenue recognition

Revenue arises mainly from the sale of corrugated boxes and soaps, and is measured according to IFRS-15 
(Revenue from Contracts with Customers) at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable as 
defined in sales contract, including variable consideration; sales tax and other duties collected on behalf 
of third parties are not taken into account. However, variable consideration is only included if it is highly 
probable that a significant reversal of revenue will not occur once the uncertainty related to the variable 
consideration is resolved.

Revenue is recognized when control of a promised goods passes to a customer at a specific point in time. 
The customer obtains control of the goods when the goods are delivered to customers and in very few 
cases when goods are handed over to the customers i.e. ex-factory, in case of local sales. Further in case 
of export sale, control is transferred when goods are loaded on vessels.

Contract liabilities, which is the Modaraba’s obligation to transfer goods to a customer for which the 
entity has already received consideration, relate mainly to advance payments from customers. A trade 
receivable is recognized when the products are delivered to a customer as this is the point in time that 
the consideration becomes unconditional because only a passage of time is required before the payment 
is due. 

Income from the following sources is recognized as under:

i) Return on bank deposits is accounted for on a time proportion basis using the effective rate of 
return/ profit. 

ii) Other revenues are recorded on accrual basis.

4.22 Earning per Modaraba certificate (EPC)

Basic EPC is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary certificate holders of the 
Modaraba by the weighted average number of certificate outstanding during the year.

Diluted EPC is calculated by adjusting basic EPC by the weighted average number of Modaraba certificates 
that would be issued on conversion of all dilutive potential Modaraba certificates into ordinary certificates 
and post tax effect of changes in profit and loss account attributable to certificates of the Modaraba that 
would result from conversion of all dilutive potential Modaraba certificates into ordinary certificates.

4.23  Reserves and profit distribution

The demerger reserve (as shown in the note 19 to these financial statements) was created on demerger 
of the Battery Business and Undertaking from the Modaraba pursuant to the Scheme. 883.277 million 
shares of TBL having face value of Rs. 8,832.773 million were issued to the certificate holders of the 
Modaraba, consequently certificate capital of the Modaraba, attributable to TBL is to be reduced by 687.99 
million certificates having face value of Rs. 6,879.903 million and remaining 195.287 million shares having 
face value of Rs. 1,952.870 million were issued against certificate premium of Rs. 1,952.870 million of 
the Modaraba on the effective date which was treated as equity injected by the certificate holders of the 
Modaraba for TBL and while implementing the Scheme, 0.9984 shares in TBL were issued to the certificate 
holders of the Modaraba against 1 (one) certificate in the Modaraba.

5 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

2023 2022
Note (Rupees in thousand)

Operating fixed assets - tangible 5.1  663,783  8,303,376 
Capital work in progress 5.2  29,248  64,900 

 693,031  8,368,276 
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2023 2022
Note (Rupees in thousand)

5.1.3 The depreciation charge for the year has been allocated as 
under:
Cost of sales

-Corrugated boxes 26  33,482  28,612 
- Soap 26  416  3,588 
- Battery 5.1.3.1  207,740  274,432 

Administrative and general expenses 27  1,741   3,861 
Selling and distribution expenses 28  900  148 

 244,279  310,641 

5.1.3.1 This represents depreciation charge related to battery segment before demerger pursuant to the scheme.

5.1.4 Had the assets not revalued, the net book values of freehold land and plant and machinery would have 
amounted to:

Freehold land  25,000  290,524 
Buildings on freehold land  153,487  2,735,512 
Plant and machinery  9,025  2,794,977 

 187,512  5,821,013 

Current year figures comprise of the corrugation and soap segments, whereas the comparative figures 
comprise of corrugation, soap and battery segments.

5.1.5 Freehold land, buildings on freehold land and plant and machinery of the Modaraba were revalued on 
30 June 2021 by Messrs Medallion Services (Pvt) Ltd. (PBA approved independent valuators) resulting in 
fresh surplus of Rs. 228.896 million pertaining to the assets of corrugation and soap segments. The basis 
used for revaluation were as follows:

Freehold land

Fair market value of freehold land was assessed through inquiries to real estate agents and property 
dealers in near vicinity of freehold land. Different valuation methods and exercises were adopted 
according to experience, location and other usage of freehold land and is valued at current market value. 
Valuator had also considered all relevant factors as well.

Buildings

Construction specifications were noted for each building and structure and new construction rates are 
applied according to construction specifications for current replacement values. After determining current 
replacement values, depreciation was calculated to determine the current assessed market value. 

Plant and Machinery

Material, make and design specifications were noted for each component of plant and machinery and 
different machinery suppliers and consultants both in and outside the country were contacted for the 
collection of information as regards to the valuation of plant and machinery and new rates were applied 
according to physical condition, usage, maintenance and design specifications for current replacement 
values. After determining current replacement values, depreciation was calculated to determine the 
current assessed market value.
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5.2 Capital work in progress

The movement under this head of account is as follows:

Description
Opening 
balance

Additions 
during the 

year

Transferred 
to operating 
fixed assets

Closing 
balance

--------------(Rupees in thousand)-------------- 

Civil work  12,160  5,042  (12,842)  4,360 
Plant and machinery  51,604  47,451  (75,576)  23,479 
Vehicles  -    21,062  (20,131)  931 
Furniture, fittings and equipments  1,136  25,018  (25,710)  444 
Computer, equipments  -    2,863  (2,829)  34 

 64,900  101,436  (137,088)  29,248 

2023 2022
Note (Rupees in thousand)

6 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET 

Opening balance  25,641  62,607 
Cancellation of lease  -    (39,277)
Modification  -    9,056 
Less: depreciation charge for the year 6.1  (5,769)  (6,745)
Balance transferred to TBL pursuant to the Scheme 1.6  (19,872)  -   
Net book value as at 30 June  -    25,641 

Useful life / lease term  -    6 years 

6.1 Depreciation charged for the year relates to the battery segment for nine months preceding demerger 
and is charged to discontinued operations (note 34). During the preceding year, it was grouped under 
selling and distribution expenses (note 28).

7 LONG TERM DEPOSITS 

 Against:
- Rented premises  4,267  4,685 
- Utility deposits  8,096  8,096 
- Deposit - FESCO 7.1  -    35,550 
- Deposit - PSO  9,321  10,642 
- Others  40  40 

 21,724  59,013 

7.1 This represented security deposit kept with Faysal Bank Limited for the issuance of guarantee in favor 
of FESCO and beared profit @ 11.2% per annum in 2022.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the deposit was transferred from the Modaraba to TBL (note 1.6). However, at 
the reporting date this is confirmed by the bank in the name of the Modaraba, which shall be transferred 
in the name of TBL on completion of due process.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2023



Annual Report 532023

2023 2022
Note (Rupees in thousand)

8 STORES AND SPARES

Stores 
Corrugation boxes  77,513  85,279 
Soap  1,047  5,243 
Battery  -    28,558 

 78,560  119,080 
Spares

Corrugation boxes  15,065  2,720 
Battery  -    1,224 

 15,065  3,944 
Less:      Provision for slow moving/obsolete stores  (5,523)  (5,523)

 88,102  117,501 

9 STOCK IN TRADE 

Raw material 9.1
Corrugation  195,734  198,600 
Soap  54,342  25,782 
Battery  -    449,814 

 250,076  674,196 
Packing material

Corrugation  1,907  1,188 
Soap  30,244  10,111 
Battery -  14,982 

 32,151  26,281 
Work in process

Corrugation  11,197  7,975 
Soap  -    -   
Battery  -    332,698 

 11,197  340,673 
Finished goods

Corrugation  38,669  22,941 
Soap  82,898  28,198 
Battery  -    72,681 

 121,567  123,820 

 414,991  1,164,970 

9.1 This includes raw material in transit amounting to Rs. 0.053 million (2022: Rs. 25.088 million).

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2023



54 FIRST TREET MANUFACTURING MODARABA

2023 2022
Note (Rupees in thousand)

10 TRADE DEBTORS

Trade debtors - unsecured: 10.1  869,830  819,179 
Less: Impairment loss of trade debtors under expected credit loss 10.2  (9,763)  (53,654)

 860,067  765,525 

10.1 This includes balances receivable from the following 
related parties:
Renacon Pharma Limited  87  789 
Multiple Autoparts Industries (Pvt.) Limited  -    5 
Specialized Autoparts Industries (Pvt.) Limited  -    5 
Loads Limited  -    74 
Elite Brands Limited  14,177  3,353 

 14,264  4,226 

10.1.1 The maximum aggregate of amount due from related 
parties at the end of any month during the year was as 
follows:
Renacon Pharma Limited  87  942 
Multiple AutoParts Industries (Pvt) Limited  -    5 
Specialized AutoParts Industries (Pvt) Limited  -    81 
Loads Limited  -    75 
Elite Brands Limited  14,177  7,838 

The ageing analysis of unimpaired and past due balances 
receivable from the above named related parties is as 
follows:
Not past due 
Past due but not impaired  -    -   
Past due 1 - 90 days  14,264  4,226 
Past due 90 - 180 days  -    -   
Past due 180 days  -    -   

 14,264  4,226 

10.2 The reconciliation in this head of account is as follows:
Opening balance  53,654  32,057 
(Reversal)/ Allowance for expected credit loss made 
during the year

31  (43,891)  24,535 

Bad debts written off during the year  -    (2,938)
Balance as at 30 June  9,763  53,654 
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2023 2022
Note (Rupees in thousand)

11 ADVANCES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Advances to:

Employees against expenses - secured and considered good 11.1  50,169  55,509 
Related parties: 11.2

Treet Corporation Limited - parent company  97,674  -   
Renacon Pharma Limited - associated undertaking  1,938  860 
Treet Battery Limited - associated undertaking  350,875  -   
IGI General Insurance Limited - associated undertaking  21  22 

Suppliers - unsecured and considered good - local  93,096  91,890 
 593,773  148,281 

Trade deposits  7,451  7,451 
Other receivables - unsecured and considered good

Balance with statutory authorities 11.3  332  650 
Others  919  -   

 1,251  650 
 602,475  156,382 

11.1 These advances are given to employees for routine nature expenses at site. 

11.2 The maximum aggregate balance due from related parties at the end of any month during the year was 
as follows:

Treet Corporation Limited - parent company  113,914  -   
Renacon Pharma Limited - associated undertaking  1,938  860 
Treet Battery Limited - associated undertaking  431,851  -   
IGI General Insurance Limited - associated undertaking  21  22 

11.2.1 The aging of Renacon Pharma Limited at the reporting date is:

Not past due  -    -   
Past due 1 - 90 days  449,648  882 
Past due 90 - 180 days  -    -   
Past due 180 days  860  -   

 450,508  882 

11.3 This represents amounts given to Collector of Customs which will be adjusted against the letters of 
credit. This is unsecured, interest free and adjusted subsequent to the balance sheet date.

12 TAXES RECOVERABLE/ ADJUSTABLE

Sales tax adjustable  666,916  552,631 
Income tax refundable  293,137  132,173 

 960,053  684,804 
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2023 2022
Note (Rupees in thousand)

13 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash in hand  1,282  4,597 
Cash at banks in:

Current accounts  26,527  110,873 
Saving accounts 13.1  37,504  121,566 

 64,031  232,439 
 65,313  237,036 

13.1 These carry profit rates ranging between 12.5% to 19.5% (2022: 6% to 8.63% ) per annum.

14 CERTIFICATE CAPITAL

2023 2022 2023 2022
(Number of Certificates)

Authorized certificate capital (Rupees in thousand)

 900,000,000  900,000,000 
Modaraba Certificates of Rs. 
10 each  9,000,000  9,000,000 

Issued, subscribed and paid-up certificate capital

883,590,287 883,590,287
Modaraba Certificates of Rs. 
10 each fully paidup in cash  8,835,903  8,835,903 

14.1 As at 30 June 2023, Treet Corporation Limited, the holding company holds 97.11% (2022: 97.11%) of the 
entire capital comprising of Rs. 10 each i.e. 858,010,993 (2022: 858,010,993) certificates of the Modaraba. In 
addition 2.22% (2022: 2.22%) of the certificate capital comprising 19,590,562 (2022: 19,590,562) certificates 
of Rs. 10 each are held by the management company of the Modaraba i.e. Treet Holdings Limited.

15 DEPOSIT FOR PURCHASE OF CERTIFICATES 15.1  1 1

15.1 During the preceeding financial year, after necessary regulatory approvals, 1,835,903 certificates were 
issued on 16 August 2021 to the parent company from the deposit for purchase of certificates. 

16 STATUTORY RESERVES  511,941  511,941 

This represents profit set aside in compliance with the requirements of Prudential Regulations for Modaraba’s 
along with circular 11 of 2006 issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan and can be utilized 
only for the purpose specified in regulation 2 of part III of the Prudential Regulations. Since the Modaraba is in 
losses, therefore no transfer to the fund is applicable in the instant case.

17 CERTIFICATE PREMIUM  -  1,952,870 

Upon demerger of Battery segment and its transfer to TBL, this reserve was transferred to TBL for the issuances 
of its shares on the sanction date.  
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2023 2022
Note (Rupees in thousand)

18 SURPLUS ON REVALUATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  553,025  1,212,893 

18.1 The reconciliation of this head of account is as follows:
Opening balance  1,212,893  1,423,472 
Add: Fresh surplus arose during the year  -    -   
Transfer to TBL pursuant to the Scheme (note 1.6)  (630,317)  -   
Less: Transferred to retained earnings on account of:

- Incremental depreciation  (29,551)  (65,629)
- Revaluation surplus related to disposal of non-current 
asset held for sale

 -    (144,950)

 553,025  1,212,893 
Less: Deferred tax attributable to fresh revaluation surplus  -    -   

 553,025  1,212,893 

Surplus attributed to:
Land, buildings plant and machinery  553,025  1,212,893 

This reserve is not available for distribution to the certificate holders in accordance with section 241 of the 
Companies Act, 2017.

19 DEMERGER RESERVE 19.1  6,879,903  -   

19.1 As fully explained in note 1.6, 883.277 million shares of TBL having face value of Rs. 8,832.773 million were 
to be issued to the certificate holders of the Modaraba, consequently certificate capital of the Modaraba, 
attributable to TBL was to be reduced by 687.99 million certificates having face value of Rs. 6,879.903 
million and remaining 195.287 million shares having face value of Rs. 1,952.870 million were to be issued 
against share premium of Rs. 1,952.870 million of the Modaraba (note 17).

20 LEASE LIABILITY  -    18,962 

The movement in this head of account is as follows:
Opening Liability  24,566  54,511 
Payments made during the year  (5,822)  (7,114)
Interest on unwinding of liability against right of use assets 20.1  1,735  2,655 
Cancellation of  lease liability  -    (34,542)
Modification of lease liability  -    9,056 
Balance transferred to TBL pursuant to the Scheme 1.6  (20,479)  -   
Balance as at 30 June  -    24,566 
Less: current portion shown under current liabilities  -    (5,604)

 -    18,962 
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2023 2022
Note (Rupees in thousand)

21 DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax 21.1  87,584  314,347 

21.1 Taxable temporary differences:
Property, plant and equipment  105,582  1,093,224 
Right-of-use assets  -    312 
Deductible temporary differences:
Provision for slow moving/obsolete stores  (1,602)  (1,602)
Provision for doubtful debts  (2,831)  (15,560)
Provision for warranty  -    (37,032)
Unused tax depreciation loss  (13,565)  (724,995)

 87,584  314,347 

21.1.1 Deferred tax liability as at June 30, recognized in the balance sheet  87,584  314,347 

Less:
Opening deffered tax liability  314,347  (386,279)
Opening deferred tax related to battery segment, transferred to TBL 
pursuant to the Scheme  (216,008)  -   
Deferred tax liability attributable to other comprehensive income  -    -   
Opening deferred tax liability related to corrugation and soap segments  (98,339)  (386,279)
Deferred tax income recognized in the profit and loss account 32  (10,755)  (71,932)

21.2 The deferred tax assets on unused business tax losses and tax credits have not been recognized in 
these financial statements in view of uncertanity regarding avaliability of the taxable profits / taxable 
differences in the foreseeable future.

Reconciliation of present value of future minimum lease payments under the contract and finance cost are as follows: 

Minimum lease payments 
(MLP)

Present value of MLP

2023 2022 2023 2022
(Rupees in thousand) (Rupees in thousand)

Not later than one year  -    7,845  -    5,604 
Later than one year but not later than five years  -    21,460  -    18,962 

 -    29,305  -    24,566 
Less: finance cost allocated to future periods  -    (4,739)  -    -   

 -    24,566  -    24,566 
Less: current portion shown under current liabilities  -    (5,604)  -    (5,604)

 -    18,962  -    18,962 

20.1 Interest on unwinding of lease liability has been transferred to TBL pursuant to the Scheme. Previously, it had been charged to 
finance cost (note 30).
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2023 2022
Note (Rupees in thousand)

22 SHORT TERM BORROWINGS 

From banking companies - secured and profit bearing 
Running finances - Islamic mode of financing 22.1  -    3,283,892 

From related parties - unsecured
Treet Corporation Limited - parent company 22.2  -    2,218,590 
Treet Holdings Limited - management company  -    66,621 

 -    5,569,103 

22.1 Running finances - Islamic mode of financing

These represented Istisna, Murabaha and Karobar Finance facilities obtained from various financial 
institutions under shariah compliant arrangements to meet working capital requirements, for 
procurement of raw materials, stocks, chemicals, stores, tools and spare parts and the manufacturing of 
batteries out of the total sanctioned limits of Rs. 3,854.50 million.

All the short term borrowings from the various financial institutions as disclosed, carried profit rates 
ranging from 3 to 9 Months KIBOR + 0.75% to 2.5% (2022: 3 to 9 Months KIBOR + 0.75% to 2.5%) per annum, 
payable quarterly. Further, these were secured against the 1st/ Joint Pari Passu charge over all present 
and future current assets, plant and machinery of the Modaraba (including 25% safety margin) and 
corporate guarantee of Treet Corporation Limited. The limits expired on various dates by 31 March 2023 
but were subsequently renewed.

Pursuant to the Scheme and the court order, the following short term borrowings were transferred from 
the Modaraba to TBL (note 1.6). However, at the reporting date, the banks' offer letters are not yet issued 
in favour of TBL and outstanding balances of the borrowings are confirmed by the relevant banks in the 
name of the Modaraba, which shall be tranferred in the name of TBL on completion of due process as the 
banks are in process of arranging approval for issuance of financing offer letters in favour of TBL: 

Name of financial institution Facility limit Balance confirmed in 
name of the Modaraba

---------------(Rs in 000's)---------------
Bank Al Habib Limited  500,000  398,600 
BankIslami Pakistan Limited  500,000  500,000 
MCB Islamic Limited  350,000  222,165 
Al Baraka Bank Limited  370,000  370,000 
Faysal Bank  500,000  500,000 
Soneri Bank Limited  400,000  400,000 
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22.2 Treet Corporation Limited - parent company

This represented loan obtained from the above named related party to meet the working capital 
requirements of the Modaraba. It was unsecured, carried profit at the weighted average cost of capital of 
the parent company and was stated to be payable on demand, particularly when the Modaraba will have 
profitable operations and generate sufficient cash flows. 

During the preceding financial year, an amount of Rs. 342.40 million was raised as running finance from 
a financial institution but was inadvertently classified as loan from the parent company. The facility 
pertained to the Battery segment of the Modaraba. In the current financial year, the aforementioned 
misclassification has been rectified in the corresponding figure (note 22).

2023 2022
Note (Rupees in thousand)

23 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Creditors
-Foreign  -    178 
-Local 23.1  354,324  624,115 

 354,324  624,293 

Accrued liabilities  93,779  152,045 
Provision for warranty  -    127,696 
Withholding sales tax payable  2,575  3,493 
Temporary book overdraft - unsecured 23.2  -    83,235 
Contract liabilities 23.3  22,665  82,380 
Income tax deducted at source payable  5,885  11,325 
Unclaimed dividend  34  34 
Payable to charity 23.4  6,290  4,606 
Other payables  924  1,060 

 486,476  1,090,167 

23.1 These include balances payable to IGI Insurance Limited (related party) amounting to Rs. 0.002 million 
(2022: Rs. Nil).

23.2 This represents unpresented cheques at the terminal date, which have been cleared subsequent to the 
balance sheet date.

23.3 These represent advances received from customers against the onward sale of goods by the Modaraba. 
These include Rs. Nil (2022: Rs. 3.352 million) received from Elite Brands Limited (related party).

23.4 This represents amount payable to charitable organisations registered under Pakistan Law as charitable 
organisation under Rule V of Shariah Compliance and Shahriah Audit Mechanism (SCSAM)  for Mudarbas 
as per circular no. 8 of 2012 on SCSAM for Mudarbas. 
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24 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

24.1 Contingencies

24.1.1 For the tax period July 2011 to June 2013 a sale tax demand of Rs. 9,526,018 along with default surcharge 
of Rs. 35,463 and penalty amounting to Rs. 508,485 was created by ACIR, Audit Unit-03, Zone-VI, CRTO, 
Lahore after conducting audit u/s 25 of the Sales Tax Act, 1990 mainly on the issue of inadmissibility of 
input sales tax. Against this order, the Modaraba filed appeal before the Commissioner Inland Revenue 
(Appeals), Zone-II, Lahore and the learned CIR-Appeals has decided the case in favor of the Modaraba. 
Against this order, the department went into an appeal before ATIR, pending adjudication until the year 
end.

24.1.2 For the tax period July 2017 to June 2018 a sale tax demand of Rs. 14,753,014 along with penalty of 
Rs. 855,726 (aggregating to Rs. 15,608,740) was created by Deputy Commissioner Inland Revenue, 
Unit-08, Audit-01, LTO, Lahore after conducting audit u/s 25 of the Sales Tax Act, 1990 mainly on the 
issue of inadmissible claim of input tax Rs. 13,574,483, non-compliance of 73 etc. Against this order the 
Modaraba filed appeal before the CIR (Appeals), Zone-1, Lahore on 26-05-2022 and the appeal was heard 
on 01-08-2022 and CIR Appeals has remanded the case back for re-adjudication. Against this order, the 
department filed a second appeal before the ATIR on 29-12-2022 which is pending adjudication at the 
year end. As per the opinion of legal advisor of the Modaraba, a favourable outcome is expected. 

24.1.3 For the the tax period April 2016 to April 2019, a refund of input sales tax refund of Rs. 43,412,131 has 
been rejected alongwith default surcharge (to be calculated at the time of payment/ recovery) and 
penalty amounting to Rs. 2,331,682 by DCIR, Unit-8, Audit-01, LTU, Lahore after conducting post refund 
audit in terms of rule 36 of the sales tax rules, 2006. Against this order the Modaraba filed an appeal 
before the commisioner inland revenue (appeals), Zone-01, Lahore on 02-09-2022. As per the opinion of 
legal advisor of the Modaraba, a favourable outcome is expected. 

2023 2022
(Rupees in thousand)

24.2 Commitments

24.2.1 Guarantees  58,178  16,049 

Pursuant to the Scheme and the court order, the following bank guarantees were transferred from the 
Modaraba to TBL. However, at the reporting date these are confirmed by the relevant banks outstanding 
in the name of the Modaraba, which shall be tranferred in the name of TBL on completion of due process:

Name of financial institution
Faysal Bank Limited  35,547  -   
MCB Islamic Bank Limited  22,631  -   

 58,178  -   

24.2.2 Letters of credit
Outstanding letters of credit  44,048  71,328 
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Corrugated Boxes Soaps Total
Note 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

 ------------------------------(Rupees in thousand) ------------------------------

25 Revenue - net

External customers - Local  3,139,750  2,440,773  1,198,563  590,169  4,338,313  3,030,942 
Related parties:  -    -    -    -    -  - 
- Treet Corporation Limited - 
Associated undertaking  71,713  48,950  -    -    71,713  48,950 
- Renacon Pharma Limited - 
Associated undertaking  35,479  30,127  -    -    35,479  30,127 

 3,246,942  2,519,850  1,198,563  590,169  4,445,505  3,110,019 

Inter segment sales  8,163  2,833  -    -    8,163  2,833 
Sale of scrap (waste paper and 
lead)  186,924  179,461  -    -    186,924  179,461 

 3,442,029  2,702,144  1,198,563  590,169  4,640,592  3,292,313 
Less:
Sales tax  (510,443)  (392,340)  (210,237)  (100,017)  (720,680)  (492,357)
Trade discount  (187)  (242)  (139)  (392)  (326)  (634)

 (510,630)  (392,582)  (210,376)  (100,409)  (721,006)  (492,991)
Elimination of Inter segment sales  (8,163)  (2,833)  -    -    (8,163)  (2,833)

 2,923,236  2,306,729  988,187  489,760  3,911,423  2,796,489 

26 Cost of goods sold
Opening stock- raw and packing 
material

 199,788  117,651  35,893  33,993  235,681  151,644 

Add: Purchases

Inter-segment  -    -    8,163  2,833  8,163  2,833 
Others  2,174,685  1,812,193  842,190  405,776  3,016,875  2,217,969 

 2,174,685  1,812,193  850,353  408,609  3,025,038  2,220,802 
Less: Closing stock  (195,734)  (199,788)  (54,342)  (35,893)  (250,076)  (235,681)
Elimination of Inter segment 
purchases  -    -    (8,163)  (2,833)  (8,163)  (2,833)
Raw and packing material
consumed  2,178,739  1,730,056  823,741  403,876  3,002,480  2,133,932 

Stores and spares consumed  41,879  37,680  1,871  3,396  43,750  41,076 
Outsourcing of manpower         26.1  203,713  193,905  11,968  24,769  215,681  218,674 
Fuel and power  155,912  115,156  -    15,875  155,912  131,031 
Freight and forwarding  97,035  68,855  25,199  8,065  122,234  76,920 
Depreciation on operating fixed 
assets                                           5.1.3  33,482  28,612  416  3,588  33,898  32,200 
Repair and maintenance  40,338  28,164  1,105  1,051  41,443  29,215 
Traveling and conveyance  6,388  3,967  874  579  7,262  4,546 
Insurance  3,499  3,784  318  401  3,817  4,185 
Rent, rates and taxes  855  766  -    -    855  766 
Other manufacturing expenses  14,433  7,299  40,091  3,876  54,524  11,175 

 2,776,273  2,218,244  905,583  465,476  3,681,856  2,683,720 
Work in process
Add: Opening stock  7,975  7,629  -    -    7,975  7,629 
Less: Closing stock  (11,197)  (7,975)  -    -    (11,197)  (7,975)
Cost of goods manufactured  2,773,051  2,217,898  905,583  465,476  3,678,634  2,683,374 
Finished goods
Add: Opening stock  22,941  8,333  28,198  26,373  51,139  34,706 
Less: Closing stock  (38,669)  (22,941)  (82,898)  (28,198)  (121,567)  (51,139)

 2,757,323  2,203,290  850,883  463,651  3,608,206  2,666,941 

26.1 Outsourcing of manpower include Rs. 15.583 million (2022: Rs. 5.977 million) for corrugation boxes segment and Rs. 2.545 million (2022: 
Rs. 0.855 million) for soap segment in respect of contribution to staff retirement benefit plans.
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2023 2022
Note (Rupees in thousand)

27 Administration and general expenses

Outsourcing of manpower 27.1  36,558  20,450 
Auditors' remuneration 27.2  2,358  1,458 
Legal and professional  5,798  4,312 
Printing and stationery  945  642 
Travelling and conveyance  1,618  617 
Postage and telephone  294  140 
Depreciation on operating fixed assets 5.1.3  1,741  677 
Others  952  5,753 

 50,264  34,049 

27.1 Outsourcing of manpower include Rs. 2.069 million (2022: Rs. 0.851 million) for corrugation segment and 
Rs. 0.534 million (2022: Rs. 0.169 million) for soap segment in respect of contribution to staff retirement 
benefit plans.

27.2 Auditors’ remuneration

Audit fee  700  1,000 
Half year review  300  300 
Other services  1,358  158 

 2,358  1,458 

28 Selling and distribution expenses

Outsourcing of manpower 28.1  38,338  26,361 
Rent, rates and taxes  196  46 
Repair and maintenance  1,403  1,032 
Advertisement  46,130  -   
Travelling and conveyance  9,100  4,536 
Postage and telephone  181  454 
Printing and stationery  -    12 
Depreciation on operating fixed assets 5.1.3  900  148 
Depreciation on ROU asset 6.1  -    2,559 
Others  5,805  1,880 

 102,053  37,028 
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28.1 Outsourcing of manpower include Rs. 2.945 million (2022: Rs. 1.153 million) for corrugation segment in 
respect of contribution to staff retirement benefit plans.

2023 2022
Note  (Rupees in thousand) 

29 Other Expenses

Provision for doubtful debts 10.2  20,630  22,526 
Exchange loss  3,397  662 
Other  -    18,352 

 24,027  41,540 

30 Finance Cost

Bank charges  3,875  5,555 
 3,875  5,555 

31 Other Income

Income from financial assets

Profit on bank and other deposits 31.1  9,349  6,084 
Profit earned on advance to related parties:
   Treet Battery Limited - associated undertaking  19,128  -   
   Treet Corporation Limited - parent company  505  -   

 28,982  6,084 
Income from non financial assets

Sale of scrap  3,898  3,363 
Reversal of impairment under expected credit loss 10.2  43,891  -   
Intercompany rental income  1,729  -   
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  31  201,755 
Others  36  18,144 

 49,585  223,262 
 78,567  229,346 

31.1 These profits are earned on accounts and deposits maintained under Shariah permissible arrangement. 
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2023 2022
Note  (Rupees in thousand) 

32 Taxation

Current
Minimum Tax  48,893  61,023 
Prior year  (1,748)  -   

Deferred  47,145  61,023 
For the year 21.1.1  (10,755)  (49,689)

 36,390  11,334 

32.1 Due to loss for the year, no provision for income tax under the normal tax regime or alternate corporate tax is 
required in the instant case. However, the provision of minimum tax chargable under section 113 of Income 
Tax Ordinance, 2001 has been accounted for in these financial statements. Accordingly, the reconciliation 
of tax expenses and product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable tax rate is also not applicable.

33 Loss Per Modaraba Certificate - Basic and Diluted

Loss after taxation Rupees in thousand  (126,388)  (541,738)

Weighted average number of certificates Number in thousand  859,950  859,950 

Loss per certificate (basic) : (Rupees)  (0.15)  (0.63)

There is no dilutive effect on the basic loss per modaraba certificate as the Modaraba has no potentially issuable 
certificates or such commitments at the reporting date.

Period ended 01 April 
2023

For the year ended 
30 June 2022

 (Rupees in thousand) 
34 Loss from discontinued operations 

As described in note 1, the profit and loss account and cash flows statement of the discontinued operations as a 
result of the demerger of the battey segment from the Modaraba and transfer to TBL are given below:

Revenue - net  6,207,319  4,881,872 
Cost of sales  (5,342,623)  (4,726,702)
Gross profit  864,696  155,170 
Operating expenses
Administration and general expenses  (147,263)  (44,248)
Selling and distribution expenses  (423,467)  (384,599)
Other expenses  (38,837)  (22,928)

 (609,567)  (451,775)
Operating profit/ (loss)  255,129  (296,605)
Finance cost  (530,729)  (474,837)
Other income  1,855  11,912 
Loss before taxation  (273,745)  (759,530)
Taxation  (17,818)  (11,594)
Loss after tax  (291,563)  771,124)

Cash flows from the demerged battery segment for the period 
ended 01 April 2023:
Net cash flows from operating activities  (712,893)  -   
Net cash flows from investing activities  (251,091)  -   
Net cash flows from financing activities  952,654  -   
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (11,330)  -   

Notes to the Financial Statements
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36 Financial instruments

The Modaraba has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

- Credit risk
- Liquidity risk
- Market risk

The BOD of the Modaraba management company has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight 
of Modaraba’s risk management framework. The BOD is also responsible for developing and monitoring the 
Modaraba’s risk management policies. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect 
changes in market conditions and the Modaraba’s activities.

This note presents information about the Modaraba’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Modaraba’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Modaraba’s management of capital.

All derivative activities for risk management purposes are carried out by specialist teams that have the appropriate 
skills, experience and supervision. The Modaraba does not engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative 
purposes nor does it write options. 

The Modaraba’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Modaraba, 
to set appropriate risk limits and controls, to monitor risks and adherence to limits and focuses on actively securing 
its short to medium term cash flows by minimizing the exposure to financial markets. The Modaraba through 
its training and management standards and procedures aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive control 
environment in which employees understand their roles and responsibilities.

The Audit Committee of the Modaraba management company oversees how management monitors compliance 
with the Modaraba’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management 
framework in relation to the risks faced by the Modaraba. The Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role 
by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk management controls and 
procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

The Management shall conduct financial risk assessments regularly so as to identify exposures, set priorities 
and quantify how the same, affect the business objectives, such as, profitability and shareholder value. These 
assessments shall cover all the aspects of corporate structure starting at the apex levels of management and 
working through all the functional levels. Head of Internal Auditor (IA) shall report to the Audit Committee of the 
Board on a regular basis, his assessment of the exposures of the entities to various risks, and checks and controls 
established by the management.

The overall financial risk management programme and specific internal control procedures focus on the mitigation 
of risks identified above due to business inherent limitations, volatile financial markets and changing circumstances 
of the economic situation locally and internationally that effect the business directly or indirectly.
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a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Modaraba if a customer or a counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. To manage credit risk the Modaraba maintains 
procedures covering the application for credit approvals, granting and renewal of counterparty limits 
and monitoring of exposures against these limits. As part of these processes the financial viability of all 
counterparties is regularly monitored and assessed. The credit risk arises principally from the Modaraba’s 
receivables from customers, refundable deposits and advances, other receivables and bank balances. Out 
of the total financial assets of Rs. 1,414.826 million (2022: Rs. 1,069.024 million) financial assets which are 
subject to credit risk amounted to Rs. 1,413.544 million (2022: Rs. 1,062.428 million).

The Modaraba has a policy of cash sales or for very limited credit period in case of corrugation segment. 
Therefore, the Modaraba’s exposure to credit risk is minimum. Timely realization of sale proceeds under 
the credit period are critical for cash flow management, reduced level of borrowing, efficient utilization of 
funds and, meeting financial obligations on a timely basis. Wherever the entity allows credit to its cus-
tomer, the credit period will be determined on the basis of customer credit history, sales volume, custom-
er financial standing, sponsors profile. All resources should be realized within the stipulated credit period. 
In case of any delays or default, it must be reported through aging report, and the concerned entity head 
shall be responsible for the realization of funds.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure before any credit 
enhancements. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is:

2023 2022
Note (Rupees in thousand)

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Long term deposits 7  21,724  59,013 
Trade debtors 10  869,830  765,525 
Advances, deposits, prepayments and other receivables 11  457,960  8,333 
Bank balances 13  64,031  232,439 

 1,413,545  1,065,310 

Credit quality of financial assets is assessed by reference to external credit ratings, where available, or 
to historical information about counterparty default rates. Banks and financial institutions have external 
credit ratings determined by various credit rating agencies. Credit quality of customers and other 
receivables are assessed by reference to historical default rates and present aging. 

Customers are counterparties to local trade debts against sale of corrugated boxes and soaps. New 
customer is analyzed individually for creditworthiness before the Modaraba’s standard payment and 
delivery terms and conditions are offered. Sales limits are established for each customer based on 
internal rating criteria and reviewed regularly. Any sales exceeding these limits require special approval. 
Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored. The analysis of ages of trade debts of the 
Modaraba as at the reporting date was as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2023



70 FIRST TREET MANUFACTURING MODARABA

Rating  Rating 2023 2022
Banks Short term  Long term Agency (Rupees in thousand)
MCB Bank Limited A-1+ AAA PACRA  55  16,779 
United Bank Limited A-1+ AAA JCR-VIS  3,318  10,156 
Bank Islami Pakistan 
Limited A-1 AA- PACRA  1,053  680 
National Bank of Pakistan A-1+ AAA JCR-VIS  2,275  10,688 
Habib Bank Limited A-1+ AAA JCR-VIS  16,067  101,429 
Bank Alfalah Limited A-1+ AA+ PACRA  2,363  2,363 
Al Baraka Bank Limited A-1 A+ JCR-VIS  404  1,818 
Faysal Bank Limited A-1+ AA PACRA  4,187  981 
Dubai Islamic Bank Limited A-1+ AA JCR-VIS  22,032  30,502 
Soneri Bank Limited A-1+ AA- PACRA  3,659  7,003 
JS Bank Limited A-1+ AA- PACRA  25  25 
Askari Bank Limited A-1+ AA+ PACRA  3  468 
Meezan Bank Limited A-1+ AAA JCR-VIS  1,064  36,855 
Bank Al Habib Limited A-1+ AAA PACRA  386  491 
Allied Bank Limited A-1+ AAA PACRA  4,896  9,634 
Habib Metropolitan Bank 
Limited A-1+ AA+ PACRA  1,002  2,007 
MCB Islamic Bank Limited A-1 A PACRA  1,242  560 

 64,031  232,439 

2023 2022
(Rupees in thousand)

Not past due  577,036  589,631 
Past due but not impaired
Less than 30 days  66,971  87,957 
Past due 1 - 3 months  83,362  17,723 
Past due 3 - 6 months  43,152  15,826 
Past due 6 - 12 months  27,153  4,965 
Above one year  72,156  49,423 

 869,830  765,525 

Management believes that the unimpaired amounts that are past due more than 30 days are still 
collectable in full based on historical payment behavior and extensive analysis of customer credit risk. 
Credit risk in case of customers is largely mitigated by the fact that majority of the sales of the Modaraba 
are on cash basis or on credit to corporate parties with reasonable financial standing and limited credit 
period. The Modaraba has also established dealerships and retail networks with strong relationship with 
customers. The Modaraba does not expect non performance by its customers. Hence, the credit risk in 
case of customers is minimal.

The external credit ratings determined by various credit rating agencies are as follows.
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Exposure to credit risk

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counter parties are banks with reasonably high 
credit ratings. Due to the Modaraba’s long standing business relationships with these counterparties 
and after giving due consideration to their strong financial standing, management does not expect non-
performance by these counter parties on their obligations to the Modaraba. Accordingly, the credit risk 
is minimal.

Any new relationship with a bank/ financial institution will be entered into with the prior approval of the 
BOD. Such relationships include, but are not limited to, obtaining any banking facilities and entering into 
any modes of financing through banks or financial institutions. The Modaraba’s Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO) where applicable, will approve quotes for each piece of new business on a stand alone basis from all 
the banks/ financial institutions on the Company’s panel so as to ensure the competitiveness of business 
being carried out with the selected bank(s)/ financial institution(s).

Corporate information and relationship with banks.

The Modaraba has relationship with both islamic and conventional banks. Profits earned through 
conventional banks are recognized as liability to approved charitable organizations according to shariah 
rules.

36.1 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Modaraba will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due. The Modaraba’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always 
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions. For 
this purpose, the Modaraba has effective cash management and planning policy to ensure availability 
of funds and to take appropriate measures for new requirements. Management closely monitors the 
Modaraba’s liquidity and cash flow position. This includes maintenance of balance sheet liquidity ratios, 
debtors and creditors concentration both in terms of the overall funding mix and avoidance of undue 
reliance on large individual customers. 

The BOD has built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the 
Modaraba’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The 
Modaraba manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve 
borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity 
profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

The table below summarizes the maturity profiles of Modaraba’s financial liabilities as on 30 June 2023 
based on contractual undiscounted payments date and present market interest rates:

2023

Carrying 
Amount

Contrac-
tual cash 

flows

Six Months
or less

   Six to twelve  
years 

 More than 
one years 

(Rupees in thousand)

Retention money payable  11,363  11,363  -    11,363  -   
Trade and other payables  455,351  455,351  455,351  -    -   

 466,714  466,714  455,351  11,363  -   
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2022

Carrying 
Amount

Contrac-
tual cash 

flows

Six Months
or less

   Six to twelve  
years 

 More than 
one years 

(Rupees in thousand)

Lease liability  24,566  24,566  2,802  2,802  18,962 
Retention money payable  11,590  11,590  -    11,590  -   
Trade and other payables  865,274  865,274  776,338  88,936  -   
Short term borrowings  5,569,103  5,569,103  -    5,569,103  -   
Accrued profit on secured borrowings  101,734  101,734  101,734  -    -   

 6,572,267  6,572,267  880,874  5,672,431  18,962 

36.2 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the Modaraba’s income or the value of its 
holdings of financial instruments. The objective of the Modaraba’s market risk management is to man-
age and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on risk. 
There are three types of market risk, which are as follows:

36.2.1 Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of the change in foreign exchange risk. The Modaraba is exposed to currency risk to the extent 
that there is a mismatch between the currencies in which receivables and purchases are denominated 
and the respective functional currency of the Modaraba i.e. Pakistan Rupee. The Modaraba is exposed 
to currency risk on import of raw materials and stores and spares mainly denominated in US dollars. 
Receivables and payables exposed to foreign currency are not covered through any forward foreign 
exchange contracts or through hedging. The Modaraba’s exposure to foreign currency risk for US Dollars 
is as follows:

2023 2022
($ in thousand)

Creditors in foreign currency - 1

The following significant exchange rate has been applied:

 Average rate  Reporting date rate 
2023 2022 2023 2022

USD to PKR  -   182.03  -   206.52

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for foreign currency instruments

At 30 June 2023, if the Rupee had (weakened)/ strengthened by 5% against the US dollar with all other 
variables held constant, loss for the year would have been (higher)/ lower by Rs. nil (2022: Rs. 0.0089 
million), mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/ losses on translation of US dollar denominated 
trade payables.
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36.2.2 Profit rate risk

Profit rate risk is the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in profit rates. The Modaraba’s exposure to the profit rates risk arises from 
the borrowings it has obtained from various banks/ financial institutions at variable rates and any 
contractual obligation that carries any penal or markup clauses on delayed payments. The profit rate risk 
is mitigated through managing borrowing at optimal levels that are essential to run the business. Short 
term borrowings shall be done to match the timing differences between fund receipt and disbursements. 
Any penal clauses or markup on delayed payments shall be negotiated with the vendor at the time of 
placement of orders. Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of the Modaraba shall be responsible to ensure that 
profit rates from banks/ financial institutions is market based that commensurate with the financial 
standing of the Modaraba. CFO shall also ensure that all contracts/ purchase orders are well negotiated to 
reduce the exposure. Sensitivity to profit rates risk arises from mismatch of financial assets and financial 
liabilities that mature or reprice in a given period. The Modaraba manages these mismatches through 
risk management strategies where significant changes in gap position can be adjusted. The short term 
borrowings and cash at bank kept in saving accounts by the Modaraba has variable rate pricing that is 
mostly dependent on Karachi Inter Bank Offer Rate (“KIBOR”) as indicated in respective notes.

The Modaraba’s profit bearing financial instruments as at the reporting date are as follows:

2023 2022
 (Rupees in thousand) 

Variable pricing rate financial assets
Deposit - FESCO  -    35,550 
Bank balances at PLS accounts  37,504  121,566 

 37,504  157,116 

Variable pricing rate financial liabilities
Short term borrowings  -    5,569,103 

The effective profit rates for profit bearing financial instruments are mentioned in the relevant notes to 
these financial statements.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

Sensitivity analysis for variable rate financial assets
If profit rates at the year end date, fluctuates by 1% higher/ lower with all other variables held constant, 
loss after taxation would have been decreased/ (increased) by Rs. 0.375 million (2022: Rs. 0.157 million). 
This analysis is prepared without taking in account taxation effect and applying +/-1% discount factor on 
cash at banks in saving accounts and deposits with FESCO reported in these financial statements.

Sensitivity analysis for variable rate financial liabilities
If profit rates at the year end date, fluctuates by 1% higher/ lower with all other variables held constant, 
loss after taxation would have been (increased) / decreased by Rs. nil (2022: Rs. 55.691 million). This 
analysis is prepared without taking in account taxation effect and applying +/-1% discount factor on short 
term borrowings reported in these financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2023
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36.2.3 Other price risk

Other price risk is the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), 
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, 
or factors affecting all similar financial instruments trading in market.

Exposure to price risk

The Modaraba is not exposed to any price risk as there are no financial instruments at the reporting date 
that are sensitive to price fluctuations.

2023 2022
Note  (Rupees in thousand) 

36.3 Financial instruments by category

Financial assets as per balance sheet
At amortized cost

Long term security deposits 7  21,724  59,013 
Trade debtors 10  869,830  765,525 
Advances, deposits and other receivables 11  457,960  8,333 
Cash and bank balances 13  65,313  237,036 

 1,414,827  1,069,907 

Financial liabilities as per balance sheet
At amortized cost

Lease liability 20  -    24,566 
Retention money  11,363  11,590 
Trade and other payables 23  455,351  865,274 
Accrued profit on secured borrowings  -    101,734 
Short term borrowings 22  -    5,569,103 

 466,714  6,572,267 

36.4 Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with 
the Modaraba’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other 
than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and 
generally accepted standards of corporate behavior. Operational risks arise from all of the Modaraba’s 
operations. 

The Modaraba’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses 
and damage to the Modaraba’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures 
that restrict initiative and creativity.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2023
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The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational 
risk is assigned to senior management within the Modaraba. This responsibility is supported by the 
development of overall Modaraba standards for the management of operational risk in the following 
areas:

- requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorization 
of transactions;

- requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions;
- compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;
- documentation of controls and procedures;
- requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of 

controls and procedures to address the risks identified;
- requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action;
- development of contingency plans ;
- training and professional development;
- ethical and business standards; and
- risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective.

36.5 Investment risk

All capital nature investments and disposals shall only be approved by the BOD and shareholders of the 
Group.

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) shall formulate the proposal for any 
new investment, clearly indicating future benefits associated with the investment in term of returns, 
using Capital expenditure techniques - discounted cash flows (DCF), Discounted Dividend Model (DDM) 
and/ or Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM). The investment proposal should also indicate the source of 
funding and its terms and conditions. 

Investments of the surplus funds will be made after the approval from Group CFO in banks/ financial 
institutions and Asset Management Companies (AMC). Investment decisions will be made based on the 
highest rate of return offered by any bank or AMC. It would normally be the highest bidder, but can be any 
other bank/ financial institution as deemed fit by the CFO with the concurrence of the CEO/ ED.

Placement and investments will made on the basis of forecasted cash flows and surplus funds available 
with the Modaraba. In order to mitigate the level of exposure with any one bank/ financial institution, the 
funds will not be placed for more than three (3) months and not more than Rs. 350 million.

The Modaraba’s funds will not be invested in speculative business, i.e. investment will be only in banks/ 
financial institutions and AMC where a guaranteed fixed return is identified.

36.6 Regulatory risk

The Modaraba is exposed to regulatory risk when it raises capital through the capital market, issuance of 
Sukuk, and right shares, private and equity placement, etc. The Modaraba shall seek prior approval from 
the BOD and/ or shareholders of its management company as per the requirement and seek all relevant 
regulatory authorities approvals, in respect of any proposed financing. All borrowing arrangements 
entered into by the Modaraba shall be compliant with the relevant regulatory requirements.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2023
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The Modaraba’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for certificate holders and benefits for other 
stakeholders, and to provide an adequate return to certificate holders.

The Modaraba manages the capital structure in the context of economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of the underlying assets.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Modaraba 
may, for example, adjust the amount of dividends paid to certificate holders, issue new certificates, or sell 
assets to reduce debt. 

36.7 Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Underlying the definition of fair value is the presumption that the Modaraba is a going concern and 
there is no intention or requirement to curtail materially the scale of its operations or to undertake a 
transaction on adverse terms.

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly 
available from an exchange dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those 
prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ requires the Modaraba to classify fair value measurements and fair 
value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements of fair value 
hierarchy has the following levels:

- Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
- Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the 

asset either directly (that is, derived from prices). 
- Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 

unadjusted) inputs. 

Transfer between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognized at the end of the reporting period during 
which the changes have occurred. However, no transfers between levels of fair value during the year have 
occurred.

The carrying value of all financial assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements approximate 
their fair values. As all the financial assets and financial liabilities are carried at cost, therefore, no fair 
value hierarchy levels have been disclosed in these financial statements being not applicable in the 
instant case.

Land, buildings and plant and machinery are carried at revaluation model and the fair values have been 
determined using the valuation methods/ techniques as disclosed in note 5.1.5. The fair value hierarchy 
is Level 2 for these non-financial assets.

36.8 Capital management

The Board’s policy is to maintain an efficient capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market 
confidence and to sustain the future development of its business. The Board monitors the return on 
capital employed, which the Modaraba defines as operating income divided by total capital employed. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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37 Related Parties Transactions

A. Related party relationships
The related parties comprise of parent company, subsidiaries, associated undertakings, directors of management 
company of the Modaraba, key management personnel and post employment benefit plans. The Modaraba in the 
normal course of business carries out transactions with various related parties which comprise of the following:

2023 2022
(Rupees in thousand)

The gearing ratios as at June 30, 2023 are as follows:

Total debt - short term borrowings  -    5,569,103 
Total equity  2,993,849  4,371,661 
Gearing ratio N/A 127%

Neither there were any changes in the Modaraba’s approach to capital management during the year nor 
the Modaraba is subject to externally imposed capital requirements, except those related to compliance 
of debt covenants including maintenance of adequate current and liquidity ratios for which the Modaraba 
has been granted relaxation from various institutions.

Name of Related party	 Nature of 
relationship

Basis of
relationship

Percentage of
shareholding

Treet Corporation Limited Holding company Shareholding and 
common directorship

97%

Treet Holdings Limited Management
Company

Shareholding and 
common directorship

2%

Treet Power Limited

Associated
Undertaking

Common
Directorship NIL

Treet HR Management (Private) Limited
Treet Battery Limited
Renacon Pharma Limited
Packages Limited
IGI Holdings Limited
IGI Life Insurance Limited
IGI Insurance Limited
Loads Limited
Cutting Edge (Pvt) Limited
Global Assets (Pvt) Limited
Multiple Autoparts Industries (Pvt) 
Limited
Specialized Autoparts Industries (Pvt) 
Limited
Specialized Motorcycle (Pvt) Limited
Hi-Tech Alloy Wheels Limited
Elite Brands Limited
Liaquat National Hospital
Gulab Devi Chest Hospital 
Roboarts (Pvt) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2023
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B. Related party transactions
Amounts due from/ to related parties are disclosed in respective notes to these financial statements. Other 
significant transactions with related parties are as follows:

Name of the party Nature of transactions 2023 2022
(Rupees in thousand)

Parent company

Treet Corporation Limited Sale of corrugated boxes  71,713  48,950 
Rental charged by the parent company  4,195  4,582 
Finance cost charged by the parent company  183,043  73,630 
Expenses born by the parent company  450,932  472,192 
Funds paid to the parent company - net of 
receipts

 -    932,110 

Funds recieved from the parent company - 
net of payments

 318,525  -   

Purchase of goods from the parent company  -    17 
Issuance of modraba certificate capital  -    1,835,903 

Modaraba Management 
Company

Treet Holdings Limited Finance cost charged by the Modaraba 
management company

 -    3,736 

Funds received from the modarba 
management company

 -    33,000 

Expenses born by the Modaraba 
management company

 -    209 

Name of Related party	 Nature of 
relationship

Basis of
relationship

Percentage of
shareholding

Frag Games (Pvt) Limited

Associated
Undertaking

Common
Directorship NIL

Spell Digital Movies (Pvt) Limited
Auto Technical Services (Pvt) Limited
Hamid Latif Hospital
Yugo (Pvt) Limited
Get Gaari Technologies (Pvt) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Name of the party Nature of transactions 2023 2022
(Rupees in thousand)

Associated undertakings
Treet Battery Limited  1,238  -   

Rental charged to the associate
Funds received from associate - net of 
payments

 201,800  -   

Expenses incurred on behalf of associate  113,362  -   
Profit earned by the Modaraba  19,128  -   

Packages Limited Purchase of goods -  30,969 
IGI General Insurance Limited Services received  31,272  28,750 

Claims received against insurance  -    6,000 
IGI Life Insurance Limited Services received  5,628  5,199 
Treet HR Management (Private) 
Limited

Services received  9,740  11,550 

Liaquat National Hospital Services received  1,796  479 
Elite Brands Limited Sale of goods  60,962  -   
Loads Limited Sale of batteries  -    213 
Specialized Autoparts Industries 
(Pvt) Limited

Sale of batteries  -    102 

Renacon Pharma Limited Purchase of goods  -    28 
Sale of corrugated boxes  35,479  30,127 
Rental charged  -    281 
Expenses paid on behalf 
of associate -  579 

37.1 All the transactions with the related parties are executed in the normal course of business on the basis of 
mutually agreed terms and conditions.

37.2 All the executives, officers and other employees of the Modaraba have been outsourced from its related 
party namely Treet HR Management (Private) Limited.

37.3 One of the directors is working as CEO of the Modaraba Management Company. No remuneration has been 
paid to CEO or any director of the Modaraba. No fees for attending the meeting has been paid to directors 
during the year (2022: Rs. Nil).

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Annual rated capacity
UOM 2023 2022

38 Plant capacity and production

Corrugated boxes Metric Tons  30,000  30,000 
Soaps Metric Tons  N/A  N/A 
Batteries Numbers  1,200,000  1,200,000 

Annual production
UOM 2023 2022

Corrugated boxes Metric Tons  20,466  23,578 
Soaps Metric Tons  2,462  1,957 
Batteries Numbers  646,941  672,711 

37.4 Remuneration of Executives

The aggregated amounts charged in these financial statements for the remuneration, including all 
benefits, to the executives of the Modaraba were as follows:

Charged to battery 
segment for the 
period ended 01 

April 2023

2023 2022

--------------- (Rupees in thousand) ---------------

Managerial remuneration  42,190  22,748  65,076 
Bonus  1,324  3,577  1,376 
Medical allowance  4,219  2,275  6,508 
House rent allowance  5,552  10,237  18,171 
Utilities allowance  1,234  2,275  4,038 
Other perquisites  13,494  12,946  31,806 
Employees' funds
-Provident fund  1,067  1,571  3,648 
-Service fund  1,067  1,571  3,648 

 2,134  3,142  7,296 
 70,147  57,200  134,271 

Number of executives 4 8 15

37.4.1 Executives  and operations of the battery segment were transferred to TBL on 01 April 2023 pursuant 
to the Scheme as described in note 1.4 and 1.5. The remuneration paid to such executives for the period 
from 01 April 2023 to 30 June 2023 has been disclosed in the financial statements of TBL.

37.5 In addition to the above, the company maintained vehicles are provided to the executives of the Modaraba 
for official purposes only by the parent company of the Modaraba as per the employment rules and 
policies.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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The reason for shortfall in actual production when compared with installed capacity is primarily on account of 
demand and supply in the market conditions and the product mix.

38.1 Soap actual capacity is not disclosed as the production has been shifted to toll manufacturing with effect 
from 1 July 2021.

38.2 The actual production quantity of batteries pertains to the production carried out during the period from 01 
July 2023 to 01 April 2023 as the battery segment of the Modaraba was transferred and vested into TBL on 
01 April 2023 pursuant to the Scheme (note 1.3 to 1.5). The actual production for the period from 01 April 
2023 to 30 June 2023 has been disclosed in the financial statements of TBL.

39 Entity-wide information and disclosure

These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of two reportable segments namely; corrugation 
boxes and soap.

39.1 Information about products

Sale of corrugation boxes and soaps represents 74.74% (2022: 30.04%) and 25.26% (2022: 6.38%) respectively 
of the total revenue of the Modaraba.

39.2 Information about geographical areas

100% (2022: 100%) of the sales of Modaraba relate to customers in Pakistan.

All non-current assets of the Modaraba as at 30 June 2023 and 2022 are also located in Pakistan.

39.3 Information about customers

There is no single customer to whom the Modaraba had made sales more than 10% of the total revenue of 
each segment.

40 Number of Employees

The total and average number of employees during the year as at 30 June 2023 and 2022 respectively are as 
follows:

2023 2022
Number

Total number of employees at the year end 178 441

Average number of employees during the year 181 434

Notes to the Financial Statements
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All the executives, officers and other employees of the Modaraba have been arranged through outsourcing from 
its related party namely “Treet HR Management (Private) Limited”. The Modaraba has been making payments/ 
contributions of its outsourced employees on account of retirement benefits, which have been maintained by the 
parent company “Treet Corporation Limited”. Accordingly, the related disclosures regarding employees benefits 
have been disclosed in the financial statements of the parent company.

41 Events After the Statement of Financial Position Date

There is no event after the statement of financial position date causing adjustment/ disclosure in these financial 
statements.

42 Date of authorization for issue

These financial statements were authorized for issue onصSeptember 28, 2023 by the Board of Directors of Treet 
Holdings Limited, the Modaraba Management Company.

Syed Shahid Ali
Chief Executive Officer

Ms. Sidra Fatima Sheikh
Director

Syed Shahid Ali
Director

LAHORE
28th September 2023

Mohtashim Aftab
Group Chief Financial Officer

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2023
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1.1 Name of Company First Treet Manufacturing Modaraba
2.1 Pattern of holding of the shares held by the shareholders as at 30-6-2023

(Section 227(2)(f))
THE COMPANIES ACT, 2017

SHAREHOLDINGS
2.2 N0. OF  SHAREHOLDERS From To TOTAL SHARES HELD

 65  1  100  765 
 53  101  500  25,870 
 26  501  1,000  24,826 
 74  1,001  5,000  218,616 
 29  5,001  10,000  242,708 
 13  10,001  15,000  176,500 
 6  15,001  20,000  115,500 

 10  20,001  25,000  239,947 
 6  25,001  30,000  161,000 
 2  30,001  35,000  68,000 
 3  35,001  40,000  119,000 
 2  40,001  45,000  83,500 
 3  45,001  50,000  147,000 
 5  50,001  55,000  263,500 
 2  55,001  60,000  116,000 
 1  60,001  65,000  61,000 
 2  65,001  70,000  136,000 
 1  95,001  100,000  100,000 
 1  105,001  110,000  110,000 
 1  110,001  115,000  114,500 
 1  115,001  120,000  120,000 
 1  125,001  130,000  129,000 
 1  145,001  150,000  150,000 
 1  160,001  165,000  164,000 
 1  170,001  175,000  170,500 
 1  195,001  200,000  200,000 
 1  215,001  220,000  215,500 
 1  295,001  300,000  300,000 
 1  325,001  330,000  329,000 
 1  405,001  410,000  410,000 
 1  425,001  430,000  426,500 
 1  750,001  755,000  753,000 
 1  845,001  850,000  850,000 
 1  19,590,001  19,595,000  19,590,562 
 1  857,255,001  857,260,000  857,257,993 

320  883,590,287 
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2.3 Categories of Shareholders Shares Held Percentage

2.3.1  Directors, Chief Executive Officer, and their spouse and 
minor children
Syed Sheharyar Ali 21,447 0.0024%

2.3.2  Associated Companies,
Treet corporation limited (CDC)  858,010,993 97.1051
Treet holdings limited (CDC)  19,590,562 2.2172

99.3222

2.3.3  NIT and ICP 0 0.0000%

2.3.4  Banks Development 0 0.0000%

         Financial Institutions, Non

         Banking Financial Institutions.

2.3.5  Insurance Companies 0 0.0000%
2.3.6  Modarabas and Mutual Funds 500 0.0001%

2.3.7  Shareholders holding 10% or more 500 0.0001%
Treet Corporation Limited 858,010,993 97.1051%

2.3.8  General Public
    a. Local 5,405,785 0.6118%
    b. Foreign 0 0.0000%

2.3.9 Others (to be specified)
1- Joint Stock Companies 561,000 0.0635%

Categories of Shareholding required under Code of Corporate Governance (CCG)

As on June 30, 2023

Associated Companies, Undertakings and Related Parties (Name Wise Detail):
1. TREET CORPORATION LIMITED (CDC)  858,010,993 97.1051
2. TREET HOLDINGS LIMITED (CDC)  19,590,562 2.2172
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2.3 Categories of Shareholders Shares Held Percentage
Mutual Funds (Name Wise Detail)
SYED SHERYAR ALI (CDC)  21,447 0.0024
SYED SHAHID ALI  -    -   
MR. IMRAN AZIM  -    -   
MR. MUNIR KARIM BANA (CDC)  -    -   
MR. SALMAN FARIDI (CDC)  -    -   
DR. HAROON LATIF KHAN  -    -   
MS. SIDRA FATIMA SHEIKH  -    -   

Executives 0 0

Public Sector Companies & Corporation 0 0

Banks, Development Finance Institutions, Non Banking Finance 0 0

Companies, Insurance Companies, Takaful, Modarabas and 
Pension Funds:

Shareholders Holding five percent or more voting interest in the 
listed companies (Name Wise Detail)

Treet Corporation Limited (CDC)  858,010,993 97.1051

All trades in the shares of the listed company, carried out by its Directors, Executives and their spouses and minor children 
shall also be disclosed:
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Rs.(000) 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

SaIes  3,911,423  7,678,361  6,094,863  4,477,787  4,653,603  2,713,128  2,621,735  2,663,830  2,649,491 
Gross Profit  303,217  284,719 -90,144 -772,495 -955,231  49,409  348,867  366,140  295,444 
Profit before Taxation  201,565 -518,809 -535,738 -2,983,616 -2,391,792 -357,120  204,577  244,358  136,322 
Profit after Taxation  165,175 -541,738 -617,470 -2,984,794 -2,391,792 -357,120  204,577  244,358  136,322 
Certificateholders Equity  2,993,849  4,371,661  4,913,400 -2,366,788  618,006  4,068,591  4,542,753  4,460,817  1,692,437 
Fixed Assets - Net  693,031  8,393,918  8,600,603  7,057,967  7,258,050  8,480,844  6,871,790  3,780,937  665,119 
Total Assets  3,705,756  11,579,148  11,999,821  10,191,016  11,750,858  12,219,365  8,867,304  5,191,000  2,052,772 
Total L1abil1t1es  711,907  7,207,487  7,086,421  12,557,804  11,132,852  8,150,774  4,324,551  730,183  360,335 
Current Assets  2,991,001  3,126,218  3,291,655  3,011,539  4,481,876  3,723,048  1,971,272  1,382,380  1,357,475 
Current Liabilities  624,323  6,874,178  6,660,017  12,494,021  11,123,580  8,150,774  4,268,125  617,334  191,242 
Dividend Declared 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 5.98% 6.27% 6.20%
Certificates Outstanding  883,590,287  883,590,287  699,999,994  195,599,994  195,599,994  195,599,994  195,599,994  195,599,994  130,399,996 

Important Ratios 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Prof1tability
Gross Profit / Loss 7.75% 3.71% -1.48% -17.25% -20.53% 1.82% 13.31% 13.74% 11.15%
Profit / Loss before Tax 5.15% -6.76% -8.79% -66.63% -51.40% -13.16% 7.80% 9.17% 5.15%

Profit / Loss after Tax 4.22% -7.06% -10.13% -66.66% -51.40% -13.16% 7.80% 9.17% 5.15%

Return to Equity
Return on Equity before Tax 6.73% -11.87% -10.90% 126.06% -387.02% -8.78% 4.50% 5.48% 8.05%
Return on Equity after Tax 5.52% -12.39% -12.57% 126.11% -387.02% -8.78% 4.50% 5.48% 8.05%
Earning /  (Loss) per Certificate -0.15 -0.63 -2.42 -15.26 -12.23 -1.83 1.05 1.25 1.05
Liquidity/ Leverage
Current Ratio  4.79  0.45  0.49  0.24  0.40  0.46  0.46  2.24  7.10 
BreaK-up Value per Certificate  3.39  4.95  7.02 -12.10  3.16  20.80  23.22  22.81  12.98 
Total Liabilities to  Equity  0.24  1.65  1.44 -5.31  18.01  2.00  0.95  0.16  0.21 

% Change 2023 2022 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2012 2011

Sales -49.06% 25.98% 36.11% -3.78% 71.52% 3.49% -1.58% 0.54% 6.33%
Gross Profit /  Loss 6.50% -415.85% -88.33% -19.13% -2033.31% -85.84% -4.72% 23.93% 57.58%
Profit / Loss before Taxation 138.85% -3.16% -82.04% 24.74% 569.74% -274.57% -16.28% 79.25% 58.68%
Profit / Loss after Taxation 130.49% -12.26% -79.31% 24.79% 569.74% -274.57% -16.28% 79.25% 58.68%
Certificateholder's Equity + 
Revaluation
Surplus -31.52% -11.03% -307.60% -482.97% -84.81% -10.44% 1.84% 163.57% 5.70%
Fixed Assets - Net -91.74% -2.40% 21.86% -2.76% -14.42% 23.42% 81.75% 468.46% 44.10%
Total Assets -68.00% -3.51% 17.75% -13.27% -3.83% 37.80% 70.82% 152.88% 18.70%
Total Liabi1ities -90.12% 1.71% -43.57% 12.80% 36.59% 88.48% 492.26% 102.64% 181.03%
Current Assets -4.33% -5.03% 9.30% -32.81% 20.38% 88.87% 42.60% 1.83% 10.43%
Current Liabilities -90.92% 3.22% -46.69% 12.32% 36.47% 90.97% 591.38% 222.80% 49.15%
Dividend. -100.00% -4.63% 1.13% 79.71%
Cert1f1cates Outstanding 0.00% 26.23% 257.87% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 50.00% 0.00%

Key Operating and Financial Results
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Notice of 17th Annual Review Meeting

Notice is hereby given that 17th Annual Review Meeting of Certificate Holders of First Treet Manufacturing 
Modaraba (“Company”) will be held on Friday, October 27, 2023 at 10:30 A.M at 72-B, Industrial Area, Kot 
Lakhpat, Lahore (Registered Address) to transact the following business: -  

ORDINARY BUSINESS:
1.	 To confirm the Minutes of last Annual Review Meeting held on October 27, 2022.
2.	 To receive, consider and adopt the Annual Audited Accounts of the Modaraba for the Year Ended June 30, 

2023, together with the Directors’ and Auditors’ Reports thereon.
3.	 To appoint External Auditors of the Modaraba for the year ending June 30, 2024 and to fix their remuneration. 

M/S Rehman Sarfaraz Rahim Iqbal Rafiq & Co, Chartered Accountant have offered themselves for re-
appointment.

4.	 The approval of shareholder in accordance with S.R.O. 389 (I)/2023.- In exercise of the powers conferred by 
Section 510(1), 223(6) and 223(6) of the Companies Act, 2017 (the “Act”), with the provision of the Electronic 
Transaction Ordinance, 2002 and in supersession/partial modification of the notification S.R.O 787 (I)/2014, 
to circulate the annual balance sheet and profit and loss account, auditor’s report and directors report, etc 
(“Annual Audited Financial Statements”) to its shareholders through QR enable code and weblink subject 
to fulfilment of requirements.

SPECIAL BUSINESS:

AGENDA NO 5 – Amendment in Prospectus.

To consider, and thought fit, to pass with or without modification(s), the following special resolution for 
amendment in the Prospectus of the Company.

Resolved That subject to approval of the Modaraba Division/Wing of Securities Exchange Commission of 
Pakistan, the Prospectus of the First Treet Manufacturing Modaraba be and is hereby amended by way of 
addition of the following clause in Part I of the Prospectus:

“The Modaraba may, by Special Resolution, reduce its Modaraba Fund/Paid-up Capital in any manner, subject 
to confirmation by the Court and/or any incidental authorisation and consent required under applicable law”

FURTHER RESOLVED THAT, the Chief Executive Officer and/or Chief Financial Officer and/or the Company 
Secretary be and are hereby jointly and severally authorised to sign all such forms and returns and other 
documents and to do all such acts, deeds and things as may be necessary to give effect to the aforesaid 
resolution.

FURTHER RESOLVED THAT, the Chief Executive Officer and/or Chief Financial Officer and/or the Company 
Secretary are authorized to delegate all or any of their powers provided hereinabove to any person under 
authority letter.

									         By order of the Board
					   

									              (Zunaira Dar)
									         Company Secretary

LAHORE:
October 05, 2023
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Notes:
1.	 The Certificate Transfer Books will remain closed from October 21, 2023 to October 27, 2023 (both days 

inclusive) for the purpose of determination of names of the certificate holders for attendance of Annual 
Review Meeting. The Certificate Holders whose names appear on the Register of Certificate Holders of 
First Treet Manufacturing Modaraba as on October 20, 2023 will be eligible to attend the Annual Review 
Meeting.

2.	 In case of individuals, the account holder and/or person whose securities are in CDC sub account or investor 
account shall show their identity by showing original computerized national identity card (CNIC) or original 
passport at the time of attending the meeting, CDC sub account holders/investor account holders are also 
requested to bring their account numbers maintained with CDC.

3.	 In case of corporate entity, board of director’s resolution/power of attorney with specimen signatures of 
the nominee shall be produced (unless it has been provided earlier) at the time of meeting.

4.	 The Individual Certificate Holders who have not yet submitted photocopy of their valid Computerized 
National Identity Card (CNIC) to the Modaraba Share Registrar, are once again reminded to send the same 
at the earliest directly to Modaraba’s Share Registrar (Corplink (PVT) Limited, Wing Arcade, 1-k, Commercial, 
Model town Lahore. In case of non-receipt of the copy of a valid CNIC, the Modaraba would be constrained 
under section 243 (3) of the Companies Act, 2017 to withhold dividend of such certificate holders.

5.	 The Financial Statements of the Modaraba for the year ended June 30, 2023 along with reports have been 
placed on the website of the Modaraba: https://www.ftmm.com.pk.		

.	 Annual Report 2022-23 and Notice of Annual Review Meeting (ARM) are being circulated electronically 
via email to all those Certificate holders whose email addresses are available with the CDC or the Share 
Registrar of the Modaraba.

	 Members who desire to receive annual financial statements and notice of the Modaraba through email 
in future (instead of receiving through CD/DVD) are requested to register their email address with CDC. 
Members holding physical certificates shall provide their email to the Share Registrar of the modaraba.

6.	 Under the provisions of Section 242 of the Companies Act, 2017, it is mandatory for a listed Company 
to pay cash dividend to its certificate holders only through electronic mode directly into bank account 
designated by the entitled shareholders.

	 In case shares are held in CDC then Electronic Credit Mandate Form must be submitted directly to certificate 
holder’s broker/participant/CDC account services. No further action is required if IBAN has already been 
incorporated/updated in the CDC account or physical folio of the certificate holder.

	 Certificate holders who by any reason, could not claim their dividend are advised to contact our Share 
Registrar to Collect/ enquire about their unclaimed dividends, if any. Please note any dividend unclaimed 
for more than three years may be deposited with the Federal Government under Section 244(2), of the 
Companies Act, 2017.

7.	 As per Section 72(2) of the Companies Act, 2017, every existing company shall be required to replace its 
physical shares with book-entry form in a manner as may be specified and from the date notified by SECP, 
within a period not exceeding four (4) years from the commencement of the Act, i.e., May 30, 2017. Those 
Shareholders having physical shareholding are encouraged to open a CDC Sub - Account with any Broker 
or Investor Account directly with CDC to place their physical shares into scrip less form. This will facilitate 
them in many ways, including safe custody and sale of shares, any time they want, as the trading of 
physical shares is not permitted as per existing regulations of the Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited.
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STATEMENTS OF MATERIAL FACTS UNDER MODARABA REGULATIONS, 2021, READ WITH SECTION 134(3) 
OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2017 RELATING TO THE SPECIAL BUSINESS TO BE TRANSACTED AT THE ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING.

AGENDA ITEM 1:

The Board of Directors of the Company at its meeting held on 28th September 2023 recommended that the 
Prospectus of the Company be altered with the proposed text as set out in the resolution. In light of the 
Section 33 of the Companies Act, 2017 (mutatis-mutandis to the Agenda), it has been proposed by the Board 
of Directors that the consent of certificate holders be acquired passed by way of special resolution.

A copy of the Prospectus has been kept at the registered office of the Company and may be inspected during 
business hours on any working day from the date of publication of this notice till the conclusion of the meeting.

None of the Directors and Key Managerial Personnel of the Company, or their relatives, is interested in this 
Special Resolution. 

The Board recommends this Special Resolution for your approval.

Notice of 17th Annual Review Meeting
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Form of Proxy
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